
Interim review January-June 2022

 • Operating profit for the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s non-life insurance operations amounted to SEK -5,848 M (9,650), 
due to negative investment income of SEK -8,343 M (8,797). 

 • The technical result for the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s non-life insurance operations increased to SEK 3,140 M 
(1,377). Premiums earned after ceded reinsurance rose 6% to SEK 16,086 M (15,241). The combined ratio improved to 
84.1% (94.6).

 • The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s operating profit amounted to SEK 1,298 M (1,973). The return on equity was 8% (10).

 • Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s non-life insurance operations posted an operating profit of SEK 457 M (485). Premiums 
earned after ceded reinsurance rose 13% to SEK 4,129 M (3,667). The combined ratio improved to 85.5% (91.1).

 • The Länsförsäkringar Bank Group’s operating profit declined to SEK 953 M (1,228). Net interest income fell  
3% to SEK 2,362 M (2,428). The return on equity amounted to 7.6% (10.7).

 • Länsförsäkringar Fondliv’s operating profit amounted to SEK 273 M (338). Premium income amounted  
to SEK 10,535 M (11,231). Commission and fee income increased to SEK 1,084 M (1,052).

 • Länsförsäkringar Liv’s profit amounted to SEK -2,237 M (5,148).

The period in brief Figures in parentheses pertain to the same period in 2021.

Länsförsäkringar Bank Group’s operating profit Länsförsäkringar Fondliv’s managed assetsTechnical result for the Länsförsäkringar 
Alliance’s non-life insurance operations

1 September 2022
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The first half of 2022 was dominated by Russia’s invasion of Ukraine 
leading to increased geopolitical unrest, an energy crisis, rising infla-
tion and interest rates, weaker stock markets and lower growth pros-
pects. Geopolitical and macroeconomic unrest affect Länsförsäkring-
ar’s operations and our customers. For example, weak stock markets 
and rising interest rates resulted in negative investment income for 
the non-life insurance operations and negative investment return for 
our life assurance and pension insurance customers. Meanwhile, 
Länsförsäkringar reported strong growth and healthy earnings in its 
business operations. 

It is even more important for us, in uncertain times, to be available 
to our customers and shoulder our social responsibility. Our custom-
er promise is to simplify everyday life and contribute to a secure  
future and Länsförsäkringar fulfills an important function with our  
local and customer-oriented profile and care for our customers. At 
the Almedalen political week, Länsförsäkringar held seminars on topi-
cal issues that affect our customers: who is responsible if you are 
hacked through your home electronics, the lack of financial equality 
and sustainable well-being among children and young people. Agria 
held panel discussions about veterinary care in Sweden, which is  
facing major challenges and is struggling to staff clinics to meet the 
needs of pet owners.

Länsförsäkringar’s digitisation activities are progressing at a fast 
pace with the aim of offering our customers the market’s best digital 
experiences, efficient customer meetings and sustainable, value- 
creating offers and services. For example, we have made significant 
progress in digitising our health care insurance for which all services 
are available on Länsförsäkringar’s website. The path to the right help 
at the right time has never been shorter and – most important of all – 
we enjoy very high customer satisfaction. In the banking operations, 
we digitised our lending processes with the first stage – a digitised 
unsecured loan targeted at our existing customers – launched in May. 
We also successfully launched our new systems for securities trading 
in the second quarter. In addition, we have a new forecast tool, 
Ekonomikollen, that is available on Länsförsäkringar’s website for 
customers to use to calculate and see how a variety of different fac-
tors and choices would affect their private finances. 

Länsförsäkringar contributes to a more sustainable society with 
its local and extensive social responsibility and sustainable business. 
We are delighted and proud that consumers appreciate this and rank 
Länsförsäkringar at the top of the insurance industry in the Sustain-
able Brand Index 2022 – for the fifth time since 2011. As part of Läns-
försäkringar AB’s climate-smart vision to be climate-positive by 2045, 
we are now managing our tracker funds ourselves that also have new 
climate-adapted index based on the EU Directive for achieving the 
1.5°C target of the Paris Agreement. Länsförsäkringar’s environmen-
tal and quality certification of car repair shops was expanded with 
new sustainability criteria in order to steer developments of damage 
repairs in a positive direction for a more sustainable society. Läns-

Länsförsäkringar’s customer 
promise stands firm in an 
uncertain world

försäkringar is also part of the Swedish Transport Administration’s 
2022–2025 Action Plan for Safer Road Traffic. Länsförsäkringar’s new 
partnership with the KINTO mobility service, which is owned by the 
Toyota Group, is also entirely in line with our sustainability agenda.

The challenging development in the financial markets resulted in 
the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s non-life insurance operations report-
ing an operating loss of SEK -5.8 billion, with investment income of  
SEK -8.3 billion. The technical result of SEK 3.1 billion was better, with 
strong premium growth of 6% and a combined ratio of 84%. The Läns-
försäkringar AB Group’s operating profit amounted to SEK 1.3 billion, 
despite negative investment income of SEK -1 billion. The non-life  
insurance operations contributed with an operating profit of SEK 0.5 
billion with strong premium growth of 13%, primarily from Agria, and a 
combined ratio of 86%. The banking operations reported a stable  
operating profit of SEK 1.0 billion and healthy growth – deposits  
increased 10% and lending were up 9%. The unit-linked insurance op-
erations contributed with an operating profit of SEK 0.3 billion with 
continuing strong growth where premiums paid increased 11%. This 
shows that our customers appreciate our attractive fund range with 
many sustainability-focused options.

On behalf of the 23 regional insurance companies
Malin Rylander Leijon
President and CEO of Länsförsäkringar AB
The Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s jointly owned company

 We simplify everyday life and 
contribute to a secure future, 
even in an uncertain world.
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The Länsförsäkringar Alliance comprises 23 local and customer- 
owned regional insurance companies and the jointly owned Läns-
försäkringar AB. Customers are provided with a complete offering of 
banking, insurance, pension and real-estate brokerage services 
through the regional insurance companies.

The starting point is local presence and decision-making.  
Experience shows that local decision-making authority combined 
with joint strength creates substantial added value for customers. 

Long-term respect for customers’ money is fundamental. There 
are no external shareholders; it is the customers’ money that is being 
managed. This approach characterises the entire business. 

The Länsförsäkringar Alliance has 3.9 million customers and 7,900 
employees. The Länsförsäkringar Alliance is not a Group in the legal 
sense of the term. Most of the non-life insurance business in the 

1) Pertains to the company’s covered bonds.

Rating

Company Agency Long-term rating Short-term rating

Länsförsäkringar Bank S&P Global Ratings A/Stable A–1(K–1)

Länsförsäkringar Bank Moody’s A1/Stable P–1

Länsförsäkringar Hypotek1) S&P Global Ratings AAA/Stable –

Länsförsäkringar Hypotek1) Moody’s Aaa –

Länsförsäkringar AB S&P Global Ratings A/Stable –

Länsförsäkringar Alliance

3.9 million customers

23 local regional insurance companies

Länsförsäkringar AB

Länsförsäkringar  
Bank AB

Agria  
Djurförsäkring

Länsförsäkringar  
Fondliv 

Försäkrings AB

Länsförsäkringar 
Gruppliv-

försäkrings AB

* The company is operated according to mutual principles and is not consolidated in the Länsförsäkringar AB Group.

Länsförsäkringar  
Liv Försäkrings AB*

Länsförsäkringar Alliance is underwritten in the regional insurance 
companies. The Länsförsäkringar AB Group conducts banking, life  
assurance and pension insurance as well as some non-life insurance 
business. The non-life insurance business primarily comprises per-
sonal risk, pet and crop insurance and some motor, cargo, liability 
and property insurance. The Länsförsäkringar AB Group also manag-
es the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s reinsurance cover and assumed   
international reinsurance. 

Earnings from the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s non-life insurance 
operations consist of the total earnings of the 23 regional insurance 
companies and the non-life insurance operations of the Länsförsäk-
ringar AB Group. 

Länsförsäkringar Liv is operated according to mutual principles
and is not consolidated in the Länsförsäkringar AB Group. 
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Report commented on the development January-June 2022 compared to January-June 2021, unless otherwise stated.
Amounts are in SEK, unless otherwise stated.

Financial overview

Länsförsäkringar Alliance
Jan-Jun 2022 Jan-Jun 2021 Full-year 2021

Non-life insurance

Solvency capital, SEK M 106,209 100,846 111,422

Solvency margin, % 323 320 349

Return on equity, % -9 18 17

Premiums earned after ceded reinsurance, SEK M 16,086 15,241 31,193

Technical result, SEK M 3,140 1,377 4,144

Operating profit, SEK M -5,848 9,650 19,742

Combined ratio, % 84.1 94.6 91.4

Länsförsäkringar AB, Group1) 

Jan-Jun 2022 Jan-Jun 2021 Full-year 2021

Operating profit, SEK M 1,298 1,973 3,806

Total assets, SEK M 692,928 667,514 711,589

Return on equity, % 8 10 9

Own funds for the group (FRL)2) , SEK M 58,677 61,898 65,203

Solvency capital requirement for the group (FRL)2), SEK M 38,932 42,141 45,368

Own funds for the financial conglomerate3), SEK M 58,677 61,898 65,203

Capital requirement for the financial conglomerate3), SEK M 38,932 42,141 45,368

Non-life insurance

Premiums earned after ceded reinsurance, SEK M 4,129 3,667 7,662

Technical result, SEK M 610 328 684

Operating profit, SEK M 457 485 798

Combined ratio, % 85.5 91.1 91.2

Länsförsäkringar Bank, Group
Jan-Jun 2022 Jan-Jun 2021 Full-year 2021

Deposits from the public, SEK M 155,867 142,149 146,265

Loans to the public, SEK M 385,639 352,666 361,991

Operating profit, SEK M 953 1,228 2,296

Return on equity, % 7.6 10.7 9.8

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio, consolidated situation, % 14.9 14.8 15.3

Länsförsäkringar Fondliv
Jan-Jun 2022 Jan-Jun 2021 Full-year 2021

Premium income, SEK M 10,535 11,231 24,682

Operating profit, SEK M 273 338 625

Managed assets, SEK M 190,909 198,574 225,028

Solvency ratio, % 166 145 143

Länsförsäkringar Liv (not consolidated in Länsförsäkringar AB Group)

Jan-Jun 2022 Jan-Jun 2021 Full-year 2021

Premium income after ceded reinsurance, SEK M 518 607 1,122

Profit, SEK M -2,237 5,148 11,691

Managed assets, SEK M 104,463 114,384 118,005

Solvency ratio, % 232 209 219

1)  Excluding Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB. The company is operated in accordance with mutual principles.
2)  According to Swedish Insurance Business Act (FRL), Solvens II directive in Swedish law.
3)  The finanicial conglomerate comprises Länsförsäkringar AB, all insurance companies in the Group, Länsförsäkringar Bank AB with subsidiaries and Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB.
4)  As of 30 June 2021, the consolidated situation comprises Länsförsäkringar Bank and its subsidiaries (the Bank Group). 
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Market commentary

The strong recovery of the global economy 
after the pandemic, in which demand out-
stripped supply, means that 2022 started 
with increased inflation tendencies. The first 
half of the year was dominated by Russia’s 
invasion of Ukraine, driving up the prices of 
energy, fuel and food, among other items, 
which accelerated inflation. In addition, new 
pandemic restrictions in China further ham-
pered developments and in combination, this 
led to a sharp u-turn in monetary policy and 
reduced growth prospects. 

The rapid economic recovery together 
with supply chain disruptions and the war in 
Ukraine resulted in very high inflation around 
the world. A number of leading central banks 
started to apply restrictive monetary poli-
cies and began to quickly raise rates, which 
means that the economic outlook is gloomier 
and the risk of a recession has increased 
substantially.  The US central bank, the Fed, 
led the way and was one of the first to act by 
lifting interest rates when it raised its key in-
terest rate by 0.50 of a percentage point in 
May, and an additional 0.75 of a percentage 
point in June. The Fed is expected to raise its 
key rate to just over 3.0% by the end of the 
year. Meanwhile, the Fed started to reduce 
its bond holdings, which resulted in one of 
the fastest restrictive monetary policies in 
its history. The European Central Bank (ECB) 
is expected to follow suit by raising rates at a 
fast pace, in July came the first interest-rate 
hike in more than ten years with a double 
hike by 0.50 of a percentage point.

In Sweden, growth for most of the first half 
of the year was still relatively healthy and the 
labour market strong, although most signs 
now suggest that Swedish growth will de-
cline in line with the trend in the macroeco-
nomic. Consumer confidence has fallen rap-
idly and the risk of low growth in the future 
has increased substantially. Household con-
sumption was negatively affected by high in-
flation and rising interest rates. This can be 
expected to lead to weaker growth and fall-
ing housing prices. Valueguard’s housing in-
dex, HOX, was up 2.2% in 2022 following a 
strong start to the year, but has since fallen 
2.0% in the past three months. The Riksbank 
surprised by announcing that it would be 
much quicker in restricting its monetary pol-
icy than previously expected. At its June 
meeting, the Riksbank raised its policy rate 
by 0.5 of a percentage point and indicated 
further rate hikes at a rapid pace. In addition, 
the Riksbank announced that its would re-
duce its asset holdings faster than previously 
decided. 

Stock markets continued to decline in the 
second quarter after a relatively sharp drop 
at the start of the year. The weak stock mar-
ket trend was due to the surprisingly high in-
flation, austere monetary policy combined 
with lower growth prospects. The MSCI 
World Index fell 18% in the first half of the 
year and the US S&P500 was down 21%. The 
Stockholm Stock Exchange declined more 
than 27% in the same period, including divi-
dends. Expected hikes in key interest rates 

also contributed to greater fluctuations in 
market interest rates. The US ten-year  
government bond rate was up from 1.6% at 
the start of the year to 3.1% at the end of the 
second quarter. Market interest rates in 
Sweden also increased sharply; the Swedish 
ten-year government bond rate rose from 
0.3% to 1.8% in the same period and interest 
on mortgage bonds even higher, which was 
also impacted by the Riksbank reducing its 
asset holdings at a faster rate. Rising market 
interest rates affect financing costs for 
banks, which led to gradual increases in 
mortgage rates for Swedish households.
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Geopolitical tension following Russia’s inva-
sion of Ukraine combined with continuing 
challenges related to the shortage of com-
ponents and materials and rising inflation 
has had a negative impact on the global 
economy as described in the market com-
mentary on page 5. 

Regarding the effect on the war, Läns-
försäkringar has identified a number of areas 
that may be impacted. Despite the volatility 
of the financial markets, the companies in 
the Länsförsäkringar Alliance continue to 
have strong and stable capital position and 
are considered highly able to manage any 
additional volatility.

Non-life insurance operations
Continued healthy premium growth
The premium growth was relatively unaffect-
ed by the impact of the war in the first half of 
the year. Premium growth may be negatively 
affected due to increased bankruptcies or 
lower sales among corporate customers, 
higher unemployment and reduced econom-
ic activity. In the agricultural sector, which is 
already under pressure, even higher costs 
for fuel, electricity, fertilizer and food may 
result in companies being discontinued, 
which could impact the portfolio trend. 

Limited impact on claims costs
Continuing challenges with shortages of 
components and materials and rising infla-
tion had a limited negative effect on claims 
costs in the first half of the year. However, 
rising inflation may affect the future claims 
trend, particularly through higher repair 
costs. Claims costs could also be negatively 
affected by higher unemployment, although 
this affects only a small percentage of Läns-
försäkringar’s total non-life insurance vol-
ume.

Negative effect on investment income
Investment income were impacted by uncer-
tainty in the financial markets in the first half 
of the year. Stock markets fell sharply in the 
first quarter and continued to decline in the 
second quarter.

Impact of the war in Ukraine

Banking operations                                          
Higher mortgage rates
Rising market interest rates result in the 
need to pass on the effects of higher financ-
ing costs to customer, for example, by rais-
ing mortgage rates. Since customers’ repay-
ment capacity is stressed by assumptions of 
higher rates in the “left to live on” calculation 
that is part of Länsförsäkringar’s credit scor-
ing process, mortgage customers are con-
sidered to have a solid margin for managing 
the situation.

Tendency of a weaker housing market
Rising rates have contributed to tendencies 
of a weaker housing market with housing 
prices starting to dip. The impact of falling 
housing prices is currently minor, but if 
housing prices continue to decline, it would 
lead to lower lending growth and lower aver-
age loan-to-value ratio in the mortgage 
portfolio.

Widening credit spreads
The funding markets have continued to func-
tion, although uncertainty has widened cred-
it spreads and led to higher funding costs. 
The Bank Group has a solid liquidity position 
and thus the capacity to manage periods of 
disruptions in the funding market. Wider 
credit spreads also have a slightly negative 
impact of holdings in the liquidity
reserve.

Lower fund volumes
The weak stock-market trend during the pe-
riod impacted the volume of managed funds, 
which declined due to changes in value. This 
contributed to a negative trend in commis-
sion income from the fund business.

Slight increase in expected credit losses
Geopolitical uncertainty combined with high 
inflation and rising interest rates result in 
weaker growth prospects. The macroeco-
nomic scenarios forming the basis of the 
model calculations for expected credit loss-
es were revised downward in the scheduled 
quarterly update. This reduction of the  
 

macroeconomic scenarios led to a slight, 
though limited, upturn in the loss allowance 
for expected credit losses. However, addi-
tional downward revisions of the forward- 
looking macro forecasts in the future may 
have greater effects on the loss allowance 
for expected credit losses. The most exposed 
sectors in lending to corporates are consid-
ered to be agriculture, transport and hotels. 
These sectors have not yet noted any tangi-
ble impact of lending exposure. No effect on 
actual credit losses could be seen.

Life assurance and pension 
insurance operations                                                 
Reduced managed assets and investment 
return 
Managed assets and investment return de-
clined as a result of a volatile market featur-
ing falling stock markets and rising market 
interest rates in the first half of the year. 

Continued strong net flow 
The net flow of premiums and capital re-
mained strong in the first half of the year.  
Future growth could be negatively affected 
due to reduced economic activity and higher 
unemployment.
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Non-life insurance

 • Operating loss was SEK -5,848 M (profit: 9,650), due to negative investment income of SEK -8,343 M (8,797).
 • Premiums earned after ceded reinsurance rose 6% to SEK 16,086 M (15,241). 
 • The technical result increased to SEK 3,140 M (1,377). 
 • The combined ratio improved to 84.1% (94.6), with a claims ratio of 65.1% (75.4).
 • Solvency capital declined SEK 5,213 M during the half-year to SEK 106,209 M.

January-June 2022 Figures in parentheses pertain to the same period in 2021.

Non-life insurance, Länsförsäkringar Alliance

Key figures, SEK M
Jan-Jun 

2022
Jan-Jun  

2021
Full-year 

2021

Premiums earned after ceded reinsurance 16,086 15,241 31,193

Technical result 3,140 1,377 4,144

Bonuses and discounts -171 -160 -2,571

Total investment income -8,343 8,797 19,296

Operating profit/loss -5,848 9,650 19,742

Solvency capital 106,209 100,846 111,422

Solvency margin, % 323 320 349

Expense ratio 19.0 19.2 18.2

Claims ratio 65.1 75.4 73.2

Combined ratio 84.1 94.6 91.4

Earnings
Earnings from the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s 
non-life insurance operations consist of the 
total earnings of the 23 regional insurance 
companies and the non-life insurance opera-
tions of the Länsförsäkringar AB Group. 

Operating loss for the Länsförsäkringar 
Alliance’s non-life insurance operations 
amounted to SEK -5,848 M (profit: 9,650), 
due to negative investment income of SEK 
-8,343 M (8,797). The performance of the fi-
nancial markets was challenging in the first 
half of 2022 with sharply declining stock 
markets in the first quarter and continued 
falling stock markets in the second quarter, 
as well as rising market interest rates.

The technical result was stronger, in-
creasing to SEK 3,140 M (1,377), driven by 
strong premium growth of 6% and a continu-
ing favourable claims-cost trend. The claims 
ratio declined to 65.1% (75.4) and the ex-
pense ratio fell to 19.0% (19.2), resulting in a 
combined ratio of 84.1% (94.6). The rolling 
12-month combined ratio was 86%. Mea-
sured as a five-year average, the combined 
ratio and the claims ratio were at 93% and 
74%,  respectively. 

Solvency capital declined SEK 5,213 M during 
the half-year to SEK 106,209 M on 30 June 
2022. The solvency margin amounted to 
323% (320). Despite the volatility of the fi-
nancial markets, the companies in the Läns-
försäkringar Alliance continue to have strong 
and stable capital position and are consid-
ered highly able to manage any additional 
slowdown in the global economy and poten-
tial consequences on the financial markets. 

Based on the strong 2021 earnings, the 
regional insurance companies will pay back a 
total of SEK 2,571 M in bonuses and discounts 
in 2022 to their owners – the customers.

Business volumes
Länsförsäkringar’s leading position in the 
Swedish non-life insurance market remained 
stable with a market share of 30.4% on 30 
June 2022, according to statistics from In-
surance Sweden.

Premiums earned after ceded reinsur-
ance rose 5.5% to SEK 16,086 M (15,241). The 
increase was attributable to both premium 
increases and portfolio growth. Premiums 
earned for private insurance increased by 
slightly more than 3%, with growth continu-

ing to be driven by homeowner and accident 
insurance. Agria’s strong growth continued, 
primarily in the international operations and 
premiums earned increased 16%. Premiums 
earned for the commercial segment rose by 
almost 6%, primarily driven by healthy 
growth in property, commercial and liability 
insurance. Interest in  cyber insurance in-
creased in the half-year since geopolitical 
turmoil has resulted in higher contingency and 
a focus on IT security among corporate cus-
tomers. Premiums earned for the motor in-
surance segment rose just under 2%, with 
continued healthy growth in commercial mo-
tor. Premiums earned in the agriculture seg-
ment rose by just under 3%. 

Premium growth was relatively unaffect-
ed by the geopolitical turmoil from the war in 
Ukraine in the first half of the year. Future 
premium growth may be negatively affected 
due to increased bankruptcies or lower sales 
among corporate customers, higher unem-
ployment and reduced economic activity. In 
the agricultural sector, which is already un-
der pressure, further increased overheads 
may result in companies being discontinued, 
which could impact the portfolio trend. 

Most of the Länsförsäkringar’s non-life insurance business is underwritten by the regional insurance companies. Earnings from the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s  
non-life insurance operations consist of the total earnings of the 23 regional insurance companies and the non-life insurance operations of the Länsförsäkringar AB 
Group.
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Claims trend
Claims payments after ceded reinsurance 
fell 9% to SEK 10,353 M (11,370) and the 
claims ratio declined to 65.1% (75.4). The  
decline was a combination of a continued  
favourable claims-cost trend, run-off gains 
on prior years’ claims reserves and a higher 
discount rate on reserves due to rising mar-
ket interest rates.

Major claims declined slightly in the first 
half of 2022 compared with the year-earlier 
period, yet larger claims remained dominat-
ed by fire-damage claims. However, travel 
claims increased in the first half of 2022 fol-
lowing low levels since 2020 due to the pan-
demic that involved protective measures and 
recommendations.

Continuing challenges with shortages of 
components and materials and rising infla-
tion had a limited negative effect on claims 
costs in the first half of 2022. However, rising 
inflation may affect the future claims trend, 
particularly through higher repair costs. 

Investment income
The Länsförsäkringar Alliance reported neg-
ative investment income of SEK -8,343 M 
(pos: 8,797) for the first half of 2022. The per-
formance of the financial markets was chal-
lenging with sharply declining stock markets 
in the first quarter and continued falling 
stock markets in the second quarter, as well 
as rising market interest rates. However, 
holdings in Humlegården* contributed posi-
tively to investment income, whose net asset 
value per share increased 11.4% in the first 
half of 2022. This resulted in a return of -6.2% 
of the asset value on 30 June 2022. 
*  Humlegården Fastigheter AB is a property company owned 

by the 23 regional insurance companies, Länsförsäkringar AB, 
Länsförsäkringar Fondliv and Länsförsäkringar Liv.

  Equities   Interest-bearing
  Property   Other

Total investment assets amounted to  
SEK 145.0 billion on 30 June 2022.

Allocation of investment assets

49.5%

20.1%

23.4%

7.0%
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Bank

 • Operating profit declined to SEK 953 M (1,228) and the return on equity amounted to 7.6% (10.7).
 • Net interest income fell 3% to SEK 2,362 M (2,428).
 • Business volumes increased 2% to SEK 796 billion (782), deposits increased 10% and lending rose 9%, while the fund 
volume declined 6%.

 • The number of customers with Länsförsäkringar as their primary bank rose 3% and the number of bank cards 
increased 4%. 

January-June 2022 Figures in parentheses pertain to the same period in 2021.

Länsförsäkringar Bank, Group

Key figures, SEK M
Jan-Jun 

2022
Jan-Jun  

2021
Full-year 

2021

Operating profit 953 1,228 2,296

Return on equity, % 7.6 10.7 9.8

Net interest income1)  2,362 2,428 4,863

Cost/income ratio before credit losses and fees levied1) 0.50 0.47 0.55
1)  Key figures for 2021 have been adjusted since the Resolution fee has been reclassified from Interest expense to Risk tax levied and resolu-

tion fee.

Earnings
The Länsförsäkringar Bank Group’s operating 
profit fell 22% to SEK 953 M (1,228). The de-
cline was mainly due to higher costs as a  
result of the high rate of development, the 
introduction of the risk tax for banks and the 
comparative period affected positively by  
reversed loss allowance. Profit before credit 
losses and fees levied declined 3% to SEK 
1,169 M (1,209). The investment margin 
amounted to 1.02% (1.15). The return on equi-
ty amounted to 7.6% (10.7).

Operating income increased 2% to SEK 
2,345 M (2,295) due to the positive trend in 
net commission, which offset lower net  
interest income and lower net gains from  
financial items. Net interest income declined 
3% to SEK 2,362 M (2,428). Underlying net 
commission, excluding remuneration to the 
regional insurance companies, increased 9% 
to SEK 682 M (625). The recognised net com-
mission, including remuneration to the re-
gional insurance companies, amounted to 
SEK –0.6 M (–173).
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equity

Expenses
Operating expenses rose 8% to SEK 1,175 M 
(1,086). The increase was mainly due to IT   
investments related to digitisation and 
AML-related costs. The cost/income ratio 
before credit losses and fees levied amount-
ed to 0.50 (0.47) and cost/income ratio after 
credit losses and fees levied amounted to 
0.59 (0.46).

Credit losses
The credit quality of the loan portfolio re-
mained very high and credit losses in the 
Bank Group are low. During the period, the 
macroeconomic scenarios for calculating 
expected credit losses were updated with 
more negative outlooks, which contributed 
to a higher loss allowance. The year-earlier 
period included reversals of previous loss  
allowances related to the pandemic. Credit 
losses for the period totalled SEK 48.7 M 
(-80.0), net, corresponding to a credit loss 
level of 0.02% (-0.04). 

Credit-impaired loan receivables (stage 3) 
before provisions amounted to SEK 995 M 
(1,176), corresponding to a share of credit- 
impaired loan receivables of 0.15% (0.21). The 
loss allowance for credit-impaired loan re-

ceivables was SEK 393 M (444). The reserve 
ratio for credit-impaired loan receivables 
amounted to 39.5% (37.8). In addition, SEK 38 
M (56) of the remuneration to the regional in-
surance companies’ commitments regarding 
credit-impaired loan receivables* is withheld. 
Including the withheld remuneration to the 
regional insurance companies, the loss al-
lowance for credit-impaired loan receivables 
totalled SEK 432 M (501). The reserve ratio 
for credit-impaired loan receivables, includ-
ing withheld remuneration to the regional in-
surance companies, amounted to 43.3% 
(42.6).
*  In accordance with the settlement model for the regional 

insurance companies’ credit-risk commitments for generated 
business.

Business volumes
Business volumes increased 2% to SEK 796 
billion (782). Lending, including deposits of 
SEK 18.0 billion with the Swedish National 
Debt Office, rose 9% to SEK 386 billion (353), 
with continued high credit quality. Lending in 
Länsförsäkringar Hypotek increased 7% to 
SEK 287 billion (269). Lending in Wasa Kredit 
declined 2% to SEK 25 billion (26). Deposits 
increased 10% to SEK 156 billion (142). Fund 
volume declined 6% to SEK 281 billion (298).

Länsförsäkringar offers banking services through Länsförsäkringar Bank, which is part of the Länsförsäkringar AB Group. The 23 regional insurance companies are 
responsible for the bank’s customer contact, while Länsförsäkringar AB is responsible for conducting joint business activities, strategic development activities and 
providing service.
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 Retail mortgages  Customer deposits 
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Business volumes for the Bank Group
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Funding
The Bank Group has a low refinancing risk 
and the maturity profile is well diversified. 
Debt securities in issue increased 6% to a 
nominal SEK 267 billion (251), of which cov-
ered bonds amounted to SEK 224 billion 
(206), senior long-term funding to SEK 43 
billion (45) and short-term funding to SEK 0.2 
billion (0.7). The average remaining term for 
long-term funding was 3.0 years (3.1) on 30 
June 2022. Covered bonds were issued 
during the period at a volume of a nominal 
SEK 25.2 billion (22.1). Repurchases of cov-
ered bonds amounted to a nominal SEK 10.3 
billion (3.2) and matured covered bonds to a 
nominal SEK 5.2 billion (5.2). Länsförsäkringar 
Bank issued senior unsecured bonds of a 
nominal SEK 1.2 billion (9.2) during the period, 
while maturities amounted to a nominal SEK 
3.5 billion (4.2). The total volume of the out-
standing senior non-preferred bond was SEK 
4.75 billion on 30 June 2022. Länsförsäkring-
ar Hypotek issued a five-year Euro covered 
bond for a nominal EUR 500 M in May.

 Covered bonds  Senior non-preferred 
 Senior unsecured bonds  Commercial paper
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Liquidity
On 30 June 2022, the liquidity reserve to-
talled SEK 87.2 billion (78.6). The liquidity re-
serve is invested in securities with very high 
credit quality and that are eligible for trans-
actions with the Riksbank and, where appro-
priate, with the ECB. By utilising the liquidity 
reserve, contractual undertakings can be 
met for just over two years without needing 
to secure new funding in the capital market. 
The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) for the 
consolidated situation on 30 June 2022 
amounted to 377% (316). The Net Stable 
Funding Ratio (NSFR) for the consolidated 
situation on 30 June 2022 was 126% (129).

Events after the end of the period
On 9 July, Länsförsäkringar Bank received a 
request for a statement from the Swedish 
FSA related to the investigation into how the 
bank complies with the regulations on moni-
toring and reporting, with a focus on high 
speed transactions and international pay-
ments. The investigation started in June 2021 
and the outcome of the FSA’s review of this 
case remains unknown.

Länsförsäkringar Alliance 
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Life assurance and pension insurance

 • Länsförsäkringar Fondliv’s operating profit amounted to SEK 273 M (338). Total managed assets amounted to  
SEK 191 billion (199). 

 • Länsförsäkringar Liv’s profit amounted to SEK -2,237 M (5,148). Total managed assets amounted to SEK 104 billion (114). 
 • The return to customers was negatively affected by falling stock markets and rising market interest rates. 

January-June 2022 Figures in parentheses pertain to the same period in 2021.

Länsförsäkringar Fondliv and Länsförsäkringar Liv

Key figures, SEK M
Jan-Jun 

2022
Jan-Jun  

2021
Full-year 

2021

Länsförsäkringar Fondliv

Premium income, net 10,535 11,231 24,682

Operating profit 273 338 625

Managed assets 190,909 198,574 225,028

Solvency ratio, % 166 145 143

Länsförsäkringar Liv (not consolidated in the Länsförsäkringar AB Group)

Profit/loss - 2,237 5,148 11,691

Managed assets 104,463 114,384 118,005

Collective consolidation ratio, New Trad, % 103 122 118

Collective consolidation ratio, Old Trad, % 121 119 125

Solvency ratio, % 232 209 219

Länsförsäkringar offers pension savings 
such as fund management och guarantee 
management. Länsförsäkringar also manag-
es traditional life assurance that was taken 
out before September 2011.

Unit-linked insurance
The overall trend in the financial markets in 
the first half of 2022 was negative, mainly 
due to Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and its  
effects. The weak stock market trend was 
due to the surprisingly high inflation, austere 
monetary policy combined with lower growth 
prospects. This was also reflected in Läns-
försäkringar’s fund range.

Of a total of 164 funds, 7% generated a 
positive return in the first half of 2022, with 
an average return of -17% for customers. The 
categories of funds with particularly weak 
performance included properties, Sweden 
and small cap, while funds targeting China 
and Latin America for example performed 
positively. 

A high-quality, attractive fund range that 
generates favourable returns on customers’ 
pension capital is a central part of the Läns-
försäkringar offering. All funds are carefully 
analysed and assessed based on criteria in-
cluding management organisation, return 
and sustainability. 11 new funds that all pro-
mote sustainability were launched in the first 
half of the year. In addition, three funds were 
replaced by funds with a higher sustainability 
level and return potential. 88% of the fund 
range comprises funds that promote sus-
tainability or have sustainable investment as 
their objective according to the EU Disclo-
sure Regulation. The goal is for 95% of the 
fund range to meet the sustainability classi-
fication by 2023. 

Funds with exposure to Russia are closed 
for trading, including four in Länsförsäkring-
ar’s range: BlackRock Emerging Europe, Car-
negie Rysslandsfond, East Capital Russia and 
East Capital Eastern Europe.

Guarantee management
Länsförsäkringar offers guarantee manage-
ment for customers who want a guarantee in 
their savings and the lowest level on their fu-
ture payments. Länsförsäkringar guarantees 
a portion of the customer’s paid-in insurance 
capital with the possibility of additional re-
turns. 

On 30 June 2022, 38% of the investments 
comprised interest-bearing, 33% equities 
and 29% alternative investments. 20% of to-
tal managed assets was invested in sustain-
ability-focused investments. The share of  
alternative investments has gradually in-
creased in recent years. Guarantee
management has no exposure to Russia or 
Belarus. 

Managed assets increased to SEK 5.2 bil-
lion (5.1). The investment return was -10.9% 
(7.2). The average return has been 7.9% per 
year since 2019.

Traditional life assurance
Länsförsäkringar Liv, which is closed for new 
business, conducts traditional life assurance 
for its customers divided into three portfoli-
os: New Trad, Old Trad and New World. 
Total managed assets declined to SEK 104 

billion (114) on 30 June 2022, mainly due to 
negative returns in a volatile market with 
falling stock markets and rising market in-
terest rates. The return on equities and in-
terest-bearing investments was negative, 
despite relatively short durations in the 
portfolios. Alternative investments made a 
positive contribution to the return during the 
half-year. Länsförsäkringar Liv has no expo-
sure to Russia or Belarus since all assets in 
developing countries were divested in 2021. 

Sustainability is an integral part of Läns-
försäkringar Liv’s portfolios. On 30 June 
2022, 21.4% of managed assets (15.5) were in-
vested in sustainability-focused invest-
ments, which exceeded the target of 18%. 
Länsförsäkringar Liv also has the target of 
reducing the carbon footprint from its man-
agement portfolios by 50% by 2027 com-
pared with 2019.

Länsförsäkringar Liv is working actively to 
strengthen the company’s balance sheet and 
capital position in order to improve the con-
ditions for maintaining its long-term invest-
ment strategy. The bonus rate is continuous-
ly adjusted to ensure buffers for future 
payments. Due to strong collective consoli-
dation in Old Trad and the healthy earnings in 

Länsförsäkringar offers pension savings, primarily occupational pensions. Fund management, guarantee management and personal-risk insurance are 
offered through Länsförsäkringar Fondliv. No new policies are underwritten in Länsförsäkringar Liv, but the company manages traditional life assurance that was 
taken out before September 2011. Länsförsäkringar Liv is operated according to mutual principles and is not consolidated in the Länsförsäkringar AB Group.   
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2021, Länsförsäkringar Liv paid an extra bo-
nus of SEK 4.3 billion, corresponding to 10%, 
to 300,000 customers in February. However, 
as a result of the lower collective consolida-
tion and lower expectations regarding future 
returns, the bonus rate for New Trad was 
lowered from 6% to 4% on 1 June. 

New Trad
Managed assets in New Trad amounted to 
SEK 27 billion (28). New Trad is a management 
form that customers with existing traditional 
insurance can choose to transition to. Tran-
sitions involve lower fees and a lower guar-
anteed rate. Länsförsäkringar Liv can thus 
invest the capital in assets with a higher ex-
pected return, which over time increases the 
possibility of higher bonuses. 

Investments as of 30 June 2022 com-
prised 41% interest-bearing, 35% equities, 
15% alternative investments and 9% proper-
ties. The percentage of interest-bearing and 
equities declined in the half-year, while the 
percentage of alternative investments and 
properties increased. 

Investment return amounted to -11.0% 
(7.8). The average return has been 5.6% per 
year since the start in 2013. The bonus rate 
on 30 June 2022 was 4% (7). The average bo-
nus rate has been 7.2% per year since 2013.

Old Trad
Managed assets in Old Trad amounted to SEK 
70 billion (76). The primary aim of risk-taking 
in the Old Trad investment portfolio is to en-
sure that the guaranteed commitments can 
also be realised in the event of a negative 
market trend. At the same time, balanced 
risk-taking is applied to facilitate a reason-
able return on customers’ savings. 

Investments on 30 June 2022 comprised 
73% interest-bearing, 12% alternative invest-
ments, 8% properties and 7% equities. The 
percentage of alternative investments in-
creased in the half-year, while the percent-
age of interest-bearing was reduced. 

Investment return amounted to -7.1% (2.2). 
The bonus rate on 30 June 2022 was 4% (4).

New World  
Managed assets in New World amounted to 
SEK 8 billion (10). New World is a traditional 
insurance policy whereby customers benefit 
from changes in value in the equities market, 
while at the same time are guaranteed to re-
coup over time at least the premiums paid, 
after deductions for expenses and yield tax. 
On 30 June 2022, 69% of the investments 
comprised equities and 31% interest-bearing 
investments. The share of equities declined 
during the half-year. 

Investment return amounted to -16.6% (11.3).

Earnings for Länsförsäkringar Fondliv
Länsförsäkringar Fondliv’s operating profit 
amounted to SEK 273 M (338). Managed  
assets fell 15% in the first half of the year to 
SEK 191 billion on 30 June 2022, primarily 
due to lower returns as a result of uncertain-
ty in the financial markets. Net inflow of pre-
miums and capital from existing and new 
customers remained strong even though it 
declined to SEK 4,684 M (6,156) compared 
with a very strong first half of 2021. Accord-
ingly, total premium income declined to
SEK 10,535 M (11,231), but premiums paid in-
creased 11% to SEK 5,320 M (4,795). 

Premium income after ceded reinsurance 
for insurance risk increased to SEK 158 M 
(145). Commission and fee income increased 
to SEK 1,084 M (1,052) due to higher averaged 
managed assets and a continuing strong 
premium inflow in 2022. 

Earnings were charged by increased dis-
tribution costs, which resulted in operating 
expenses of SEK 868 M (783). Distribution 
costs increased partly due to an updated 
business model, involving higher remunera-
tion to the regional insurance companies to 
drive long-term organic growth. The updated 
business model also resulted in lower oper-
ating profit, but together with the 23 regional 
insurance companies total operating profit 
amounted to SEK 445 M (497) for the first 
half of 2022.
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Capital position
Länsförsäkringar Fondliv’s capital position is 
expressed and measured in accordance with 
Solvency II as a ratio of own funds in relation 
to the risk-based capital requirement. Läns-
försäkringar Fondliv’s solvency ratio on 30 
June 2022 amounted to 166 (145). Own funds 
were negatively impacted by dividends of 
SEK 690 M for the 2021 fiscal year to Läns-
försäkringar AB, negative market fluctua-
tions and free transfer rights even for older 
insurance policies. The company has taken 
out reinsurance for cancellation risk, which 
contributed to the capital requirement de-
creasing more than own funds, thus increas-

ing the solvency ratio. Länsförsäkringar Fon-
dliv has a strong capital position and is 
considered highly able to manage any future 
negative market fluctuations.

Earnings for Länsförsäkringar Liv
Länsförsäkringar Liv’s loss amounted to SEK 
-2,237 M (profit: 5,148) due to negative in-
vestment income of SEK -10,186 M (pos: 
4,722) as a result of falling stock markets and 
rising market interest rates. However, earn-
ings were positively impacted by the increase 
in Swedish long-term market interest rates, 
which led to a higher discount rate for the  
liability. The Swedish ten-year swap rate in-
creased by 182 basis points during the half-
year. Changes in market interest rates affect 
Länsförsäkringar Liv’s earnings since future 
commitments are discounted with the mar-
ket interest rate. However, the company can 
largely protect itself from the impact of  
interest-rate changes on earnings by partly 
matching assets and liabilities against each 
other. On 1 January 2022, the Ultimate  
Forward Rate (UFR) was lowered 0.15 of a 
percentage point to 3.45%, which negatively 
affected discounting of liabilities for terms of 
more than ten years. The technical provi-
sions, including conditional bonus, de-
creased SEK 10,002 M (2,571) during the half-
year due to rising market interest rates. In 
addition, reserve requirements decreased, 
since claims payments and capital trans-
ferred from the company exceeded the pre-
mium income. Operating expenses fell to 
SEK 166 M (171), in line with the company’s 
long-term cost savings for more efficient 
operations and lower customer fees.

Capital position
Länsförsäkringar Liv’s capital position is ex-
pressed and measured in accordance with 
Solvency II as a ratio of own funds in relation 
to the risk-based capital requirement. Läns-
försäkringar Liv’s solvency ratio increased to 
232% (209) on 30 June 2022, mainly due to 
stronger own funds whereby the liability de-
clined more than assets, while the capital re-
quirement fell slightly as a result of negative 
market fluctuations. Länsförsäkringar Liv has 
a strong capital position and is considered 
highly able to manage any future negative 
market fluctuations. Collective consolidation 
amounted to 103% (122) in New Trad and 
121% (119) in Old Trad.
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Through Länsförsäkringar Fastighetsförmed-
ling, Länsförsäkringar offers a total solution 
for reliable mortgage transactions: real-estate 
brokerage, banking and insurance services 
all in one company. Real-estate brokerage is 
also a key customer meeting for sales of 
mortgages and insurance. 

Länsförsäkringar Fastighetsförmedling 
has 189 branches throughout Sweden. Läns-
försäkringar Fastighetsförmedling is one of 
the largest players in the market and Swe-
den’s fastest growing estate-agent chain, 
and for the seventh consecutive year had the 
most satisfied customers according to the 
Swedish Quality Index’s 2022 customer satis-
faction survey for the estate-agent industry. 

The real-estate brokerage is an integrated 
part of the local regional insurance compa-
nies’ full-service customer offering, with the 
aim of offering more than just brokerage and 
sales of residential properties. The operations 
are conducted in franchise form, whereby 
the regional insurance companies act as the 
franchiser for the local branches. This also 
means that Länsförsäkringar Fastighets-
förmedling differs from other national es-
tate-agent chains by always being locally 
based.

From July 2021 to June 2022, Länsförsäk-
ringar Fastighetsförmedling brokered a total 
of 29,669 listings (30,678), a decrease of 3%. 
The number of brokered tenant-owned 

Market shares for the three largest property 
brokers on 30 June 2022*
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Residential properties brokered by 
Länsförsäkringar Fastighetsförmedling

Länsförsäkringar Fastighetsförmedling’s market 
share 2017–June 2022*

 Total value, SEK billion
 Number of brokered residential properties

 Market share of brokered tenant-owned apartments (%)
 Market share of brokered single-family homes (%)

  Fastighetsbyrån
  Länsförsäkringar Fastighetsförmedling
  Svensk Fastighetsförmedling
  Other brokers

apartments fell 2% to 16,385 (16,725) and the 
number of brokered single-family homes fell 
4% to 11,618 (12,078). Commission income 
decreased 0.7% to SEK 1,424 M (1,434). The 
total sales value for the year amounted to 
SEK 83.3 billion (75.6). Länsförsäkringar  
Fastighetsförmedling’s market share of  
brokered single-family homes* was 15.8% on  
30 June 2022. The market share of brokered 
tenant-owned apartments* was 12.6% on 30 
June 2022.

*  Statistics for market shares for single-family homes and apart-
ments are based on Värderingsdata’s list of contracts, excluding 
new builds (rolling 12 months on 30 June 2022). 

Real-estate brokerage

 • Länsförsäkringar Fastighetsförmedling’s total sales value amounted to SEK 83.3 billion (75.6). 
 • The number of brokered residential properties declined 3% to 29,669 (30,678), the number of brokered tenant-
owned apartments fell 2% and the number of brokered single-family homes fell 4%.

 • Länsförsäkringar Fastighetsförmedling is one of the largest real-estate brokers in Sweden with a market share of 
15.8% for brokered single-family homes and 12.6% for brokered tenant-owned apartments as per 30 June 2022.

July 2021-June 2022 Figures in parentheses pertain to the year-earlier period.

Länsförsäkringar offers real-estate brokerage through Länsförsäkringar Fastighetsförmedling. The operations are conducted in franchise form, whereby the regional 
insurance companies act as franchisers for the 189 local branches across Sweden.
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Earnings
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Operating profit for the Länsförsäkringar AB Group

The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s operating 
profit amounted to SEK 1,298 M (1,973), de-
spite weak investment income of SEK -959 M 
(659). The return on equity was 8% (10).

The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s non-life 
insurance business is divided into two busi-
ness units: Non-life and Agria. The Non-life 
insurance business unit is responsible for 
development and service of the Länsförsäk-
ringar Alliance’s non-life insurance business 
and conducting non-life insurance business 
in development areas to supplement the re-
gional insurance companies’ offering or to 
achieve economies of scale. Agria is the 
Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s specialist com-
pany for pet and crop insurance. Operating 
profit for the Group’s total non-life insurance 
business amounted to SEK 457 M (485). Pre-
miums earned after ceded reinsurance rose 
13% to SEK 4,129 M (3,667). The combined ra-
tio improved to 85.5% (91.1).

The Bank Group’s operating profit de-
clined 22% to SEK 953 M (1,228). The decline 

was mainly due to higher costs as a result of 
the high rate of development, the introduc-
tion of the risk tax for banks and the com-
parative period affected positively by re-
versed loss allowance. Profit before credit 
losses and fees levied declined 3% to SEK 
1,169 M (1,209). Net interest income fell 3% to 
SEK 2,362 M (2,428). 

Länsförsäkringar Fondliv’s operating 
profit amounted to SEK 273 M (338). Net in-
flow of premiums and capital from existing 
and new customers remained strong even 
though it declined to SEK 4,684 M (6,156) 
compared with a very strong first half of 
2021. Managed assets declined to SEK 191 
billion on 30 June 2022, primarily due to un-
certainty in the financial markets. 

The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s invest-
ment return attributable to the insurance 
operations’ and Parent Company’s assets 
decreased to -4.1% (3.5) due to a negative 
market trend. Equities performed weakly 
during the first half of the year, contributing 
-3.5 percentage points (2.2). Properties made 
a contribution of 0.5 of a percentage point 
(0.8), with unlisted properties reporting a 
positive return, while listed properties yield-
ed a negative return. Alternative investments 
contributed 0.1 of a percentage point (0.3), 
with the largest contribution from the pri-
vate equity portfolio. The fixed-income port-
folio contributed -1.3 percentage points (0.2).

Capital position
The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s equity de-
creased SEK 759 M in the first half of 2022 to 
SEK 34,628 M, mainly due to dividends paid 
to the owners.

The Länsförsäkringar AB Group is a financial 
conglomerate. The Group’s companies are 
encompassed by group solvency regulations 
in accordance with legislation on financial 
conglomerates, legislation on insurance op-
erations and legislation on banking opera-
tions. After the merger of Länsförsäkringar 
Sak and Länsförsäkringar AB on 3 May 2021, 
Länsförsäkringar AB became an insurance 
company and must comply with the solvency 
rules in accordance with the Insurance Busi-
ness Act, but is no longer subject to group 
solvency regulations according to the legis-
lation for banking operations. Länsförsäk-
ringar Bank’s consolidated situation thus 
comprises Länsförsäkringar Bank AB and its 
subsidiaries. 

On 30 June 2022, surplus capital for the 
Länsförsäkringar AB Group under the rules 
on financial conglomerates was SEK 19.7 bil-
lion, down SEK 0.1 billion during the half-
year. Own funds amounted to SEK 58.7 bil-
lion and the capital requirement to SEK 38.9 
billion. The capital position under the rules 
on insurance operations was commensurate 
with the capital position under the rules on 
financial conglomerates on 30 June 2022. 

In the first half of 2022, Länsförsäkringar 
AB paid dividends of SEK 1,751 M to its own-
ers for 2021. Länsförsäkringar AB received 
dividends and Group contributions of SEK 
1,351 M from its subsidiaries, and paid a 
Group contribution of SEK 190 M to Läns-
försäkringar Fondliv.

Länsförsäkringar AB

 • The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s operating profit amounted to SEK 1,298 M (1,973) and the return on equity 
amounted to 8% (10).

 • Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s non-life insurance operations posted an operating profit of SEK 457 M (485). 

 • The Länsförsäkringar Bank Group’s operating profit declined to SEK 953 M (1,228). 

 • Länsförsäkringar Fondliv’s operating profit amounted to SEK 273 M (338). 

 • The Parent Company’s operating profit amounted to SEK 859 M (1,306).

January-June 2022 Figures in parentheses pertain to the same period in 2021.

Länsförsäkringar AB and its subsidiaries are commissioned by the regional insurance companies to conduct joint banking and insurance operations, pursue strategic 
development activities and provide service in areas that generate economies of scale and efficiency. The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s non-life insurance business is 
divided into two business units: Non-life insurance (Personal Risk and Motor, Commercial and Reinsurance) and Agria (pet and crop insurance). Länsförsäkringar AB’s 
interim report is included on pages 14–16 and 19–38.
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Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s capital position

30 Jun 
2022

31 Dec 
2021

30 Jun 
2021

Länsförsäkringar AB

Solvency ratio, % 227 181 195

Försäkringsaktiebolaget Agria

Solvency ratio, % 226 208 186

Länsförsäkringar Grupplivförsäkrings AB

Solvency ratio, % 354 242 326

Länsförsäkringar Fondliv Försäkrings AB

Solvency ratio, % 166 143 145

Länsförsäkringar Bank Group

Common Equity Tier 1 
capital ratio, % 14.9 15.3 14.8

Non-life insurance
The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s Non-life in-
surance business unit conducts personal risk 
insurance, some motor, cargo, liability and 
property insurance as well as international 
reinsurance. The Länsförsäkringar AB Group 
also manages the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s 
joint reinsurance cover.

Both the technical result and the com-
bined ratio improved to SEK 280 M (140) and 
81.0% (89.8), respectively. 

Premiums earned after ceded reinsur-
ance rose 6% to SEK 1,450 M (1,365), where 
the strong sales in both business areas Per-
sonal Risk as well as Motor, Commercial and 
Reinsurance, contributed to healthy growth. 
Interest in cyber insurance increased in the 
half-year since geopolitical turmoil has re-
sulted in higher contingency and a focus on 
IT security among corporate customers.

Claims payments after ceded reinsurance 
amounted to SEK 890 M (955) and the claims 
ratio fell to 61.4% (70.0). The expense ratio 
declined to 19.6% (19.8). 

Operating profit amounted to SEK 292 M 
(231). Following the merger between Läns-
försäkringar Sak and Länsförsäkringar AB in 
May 2021, investment income is recognised 
in the Parent Company’s Support and Ser-
vice units.

Personal Risk
The technical result for the Personal Risk im-
proved to SEK 116 M (38). Earnings for health 
insurance improved, mainly due to adjust-
ments to conditions in prior years and a 
downward adjustment to the reserve for 
COVID-19 related health claims. Profit for 
group life assurance also improved as a re-
sult of lower claims costs. Earnings for 
health care insurance were negative as a re-
sult of higher claims costs related to opera-
tions and medical care.

Motor, Commercial and Reinsurance
The technical result for Motor, Commercial 
and Reinsurance rose to SEK 165 M (105). 
Earnings for internationally assumed rein-
surance improved, mainly as an effect of 
run-off gains on prior year’s claims reserves. 
Earnings for liability and cargo insurance and 
for the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s internal 
reinsurance, to which Länsförsäkringar AB 
contributes a 15% share of assumed reinsur-
ance, remained positive. Earnings for motor 
insurance improved, mainly as an effect of 
run-off gains following the review of prior 
year’s reserves for hull insurance. 

The Non-life insurance business unit also 
includes annuities operations, which posted 
slightly positive earnings during the half-
year.

Agria
Länsförsäkringar offers pet and crop insur-
ance through the Länsförsäkringar AB 
Group’s subsidiary Agria Djurförsäkring.

Agria’s technical result increased to SEK 
330 M (188) due to continued strong growth 
and a stabilised claims-cost trend. This re-
sulted in the combined ratio improving to 
87.9% (91.9). 

Premiums earned after ceded reinsur-
ance increased 16% to SEK 2,679 M (2,302) 
attributable both to premium increases and 
portfolio growth. Business volumes in-
creased in all business lines, with the largest 
growth in the international operations. In 
February, Agria expanded its international 
business by acquiring the Irish company 
Capstone Financial Services Limited which 
distributes pet insurance in Ireland and the 
Netherlands. 

Claims payments after ceded reinsurance 
amounted to SEK 1,778 M (1,675). The claims 
ratio decreased to 66.3% (72.8), primarily due 
to a stabilised claims-cost trend but also to 
higher premiums. Operating expenses 
amounted to SEK 578 M (440) and the ex-
pense ratio increased to 21.6% (19.1). 

Operating profit declined to SEK 165 M 
(254), due to lower investment income as a 
result of uncertainty in the financial markets. 

In June, Agria launched a brand new type 
of dog insurance for which dog owners con-
tact Agria directly for an initial assessment 
of the dog’s condition. The product offers 
health-promotion services and a free con-
sultation with a vet at any time of the day. In-
creasing know-how means that claims and 
unnecessary visits to the vet can be reduced. 
In addition, dog owners can reduce their in-
surance premiums by participating in virtual 
dog courses about how to protect dogs from 
injury and illness. 

At the start of the summer, Agria arranged 
its popular Dog Walk event to raise money 
for homeless dogs, and the Glädjehoppet 
hobbyhorse event for the Swedish Childhood 
Cancer Fund.

SEK M
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Technical result

Bank
The Länsförsäkringar Bank Group’s operating 
profit declined 22% to SEK 953 M (1,228). The 
decline was mainly due to higher costs as a 
result of the high rate of development, the 
introduction of the risk tax for banks and the 
comparative period affected positively by re-
versed loss allowance. Profit before credit 
losses and fees levied declined 3% to SEK 
1,169 M (1,209). Net interest income fell 3% to 
SEK 2,362 M (2,428). More information about 
Länsförsäkringar Bank is available on pages 
9-10. 

Unit-linked insurance
Länsförsäkringar Fondliv’s operating profit 
amounted to SEK 273 M (338). Net inflow of 
premiums and capital from existing and new 
customers remained strong even though it 
declined to SEK 4,684 M (6,156) compared with 
a very strong first half of 2021. Premiums 
paid thus rose 11% to SEK 5,320 M (4,795). 
Managed assets fell 15% in the first half of 
the year to SEK 191 billion on 30 June 2022, 
primarily due to uncertainty in the financial 
markets. More information about Länsförsäk-
ringar Fondliv is available on pages 11–12. 

Parent Company
After the merger between Länsförsäkringar 
Sak and Länsförsäkringar AB on 3 May 2021, 
Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s Parent Compa-
ny consists of the Non-life insurance busi-
ness unit excluding Länsförsäkringar Grupp-
liv, as well as units within Support and 
Service. Support and Service is responsible 
for business service, both within the Group 
and for the regional insurance companies, 
and conducts Länsförsäkringar’s joint IT and 
strategic development operations. 
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The Parent Company’s non-life insurance 
business posted premiums earned after ced-
ed reinsurance of SEK 1,282 M (1,206), where 
the strong sales in both business areas Per-
sonal Risk as well as Motor, Commercial and 
Reinsurance, contributed to healthy growth.
Claims payments after ceded reinsurance 
amounted to SEK 809 M (849), resulting in a 
technical result of SEK 230 M (117). 

Non-technical income and expenses from 
the Parent Company’s Support and Service 
operations amounted to SEK -156 M (-135). 

The Parent Company’s operating profit 
amounted to SEK 859 M (1,306). Dividends of 
SEK 690 M from Länsförsäkringar Fondliv, 
SEK 396 M from Länsförsäkringar Bank and 
SEK 35 M from Länsförsäkringar Gruppliv 
had a positive impact on earnings.

Other events during the period
On 14 February 2022, Fredrik Bergström left 
his position as President and CEO of Läns-
försäkringar AB. In connection with this,  
Malin Rylander Leijon, who most recently 
served as the CFO of Länsförsäkringar AB, 
was appointed President and CEO of Läns-
försäkringar AB, and Jonas Ekegren was ap-
pointed CFO of Länsförsäkringar AB on 15 
February 2022.

Agria’s application for a third-party 
branch in the UK was approved on 5 May.

Ceasar Åfors decided at Länsförsäkringar 
AB’s general meeting on 6 May to step down 
from his role of Chairman of Länsförsäkring-
ar AB. Maria Engholm, the former Deputy 
Chairman of Länsförsäkringar AB, was elect-
ed the new Chairman. Maria Engholm is the 
President of HSB MälarDalarna and also the 
Chairman of Dalarnas Försäkringsbolag.

Events after the end of the period
Expanded transfer rights were introduced on 
1 July 2022, which provide higher value for 
customers since a larger share of capital can 
be transferred. Länsförsäkringar Fondliv is 
well positioned to manage the effects of ex-
panded transfer rights in terms of both the 
effect on the customer market and the capi-
tal position. The company took out reinsur-
ance for cancellation risk during the year.

As a result of the lower collective consol-
idation and lower expectations regarding fu-
ture returns, the bonus rate for New Trad 
and Old Trad was lowered from 4% to 1% on 1 
July 2022. 

Risks and uncertainty factors  
of the operations
The Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s banking 
and insurance operations give rise to various 
types of risks, with the most prominent risks 

comprising credit risk in the banking opera-
tions and market and life-assurance risks in 
the unit-linked insurance operations. 

Credit risk in the Länsförsäkringar Bank 
Group is primarily affected by the economic 
situation in Sweden since all loans are grant-
ed locally. Low loan-to-value ratio, combined 
with a well-diversified geographic spread 
and local presence, are the core pillars in the 
work to ensure that the loan portfolio main-
tains high credit quality. Länsförsäkringar 
Bank includes the expected macroeconomic 
trend in its loss allowance. The regional in-
surance companies cover 80% of the provi-
sion requirement in the Bank Group (exclud-
ing Wasa Kredit) on the date when an impair- 
ment is identified, by means of an off-set 
against accrued distribution remuneration. 

In the unit-linked insurance operations, 
the policyholders primarily bear the market 
risks, but since the trend in insurance capital 
is affected by the company’s earnings, the 
company is also exposed to market risk. The 
risks in the investment assets managed by 
the Group’s companies for own account are 
held at a low level. 

Life-assurance risks primarily comprise 
cancellation risk in Länsförsäkringar Fondliv, 
meaning the risk of lower future fee income 
due to customers moving their insurance to 
paid-up policies or transferring them to an-
other insurance company. 

Geopolitical tension following Russia’s in-
vasion of Ukraine combined with continuing 
challenges related to the shortage of com-
ponents and materials and rising inflation 
has had a negative impact on the global 
economy. Long-term interest rates and in-
flation rose sharply in the half-year, while 
stock markets around the world declined. 
This trend had a slightly negative impact on 
the amount of unit-linked insurance capital, 
which in turn impacted the value of future 
profit in the unit-linked insurance opera-
tions. Despite the volatility in the financial 
markets, the Länsförsäkringar AB Group 
continues to have a stable capital position. 
The effects of the war on the Länsförsäkring-
ar AB Group’s operations are described in 
more detail on page 6.

Non-life insurance risks also arise in the 
Group’s non-life insurance operations. The 
operations are highly diverse, ranging from 
cargo insurance and reinsurance to pet in-
surance. Non-life insurance taken out is rein-
sured, where deemed appropriate, and exten-
sive reinsurance operations are conducted 
on behalf of the Länsförsäkringar Alliance. 

The Parent Company in the Länsförsäk-
ringar AB Group also assumes risks attribut-
able to the company’s investments in liquidi-

ty and the business-support operations 
conducted on behalf of the subsidiaries and 
the regional insurance companies. 

The day-to-day operations include a vari-
ety of process risks and the subsidiaries’ 
products and services may be associated 
with different types of product risks. Securi-
ty risks, for example, external crime and in-
ternal fraud cannot be completely avoided 
and as digitisation increases greater focus 
has been directed to cyber risks and IT risks. 
Compliance risks are continuously in focus, 
particularly risks associated with money 
laundering and terror financing. 

The risk of the life-assurance and banking 
operations being used to launder money and 
finance terror or fraud is reduced through a 
systematic process of risk assessments and 
active monitoring of ongoing business rela-
tionships and deviating activities or transac-
tions. Suspicious activity and transactions 
are reported directly to the Financial Intelli-
gence Unit of the police. The head of Finan-
cial Crime Prevention is a member of the 
bank’s management team and reports di-
rectly to the bank’s President. 

The effects of the pandemic on the Läns-
försäkringar AB Group’s earnings have been 
relatively limited. However, the pandemic has 
also affected daily work since some employ-
ees have been working remotely to minimise 
the risk of contagion. 

A more detailed description of the risks 
to which the Group is exposed, and how they 
are managed, is presented in Länsförsäkring-
ar AB’s 2021 Annual Report in Group note 2 
Risk and capital management.

The results of the operations for the period 
and the financial position of the Länsförsäk-
ringar AB Group and the Parent Company at 
30 June 2022 are presented in the following 
financial statements with accompanying 
notes.
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Länsförsäkringar Alliance non-life insurance 
Financial statements 
Income statement for Länsförsäkringar Alliance non-life insurance 

Jan-Jun Jan-Jun Full-year 
SEK M 2022 2021 2021 

Premiums earned (after ceded reinsurance) 16,086 15,241 31,193 

Investment income transferred from financial operations 447 445 1,246 

Claims payments (after ceded reinsurance) -10,353 -11,370 -22,595
Operating expenses -3,023 -2,890 -5,633

Other technical revenue/expenses -18 -49 -85

Technical result for non-life insurance operations before bonuses and discounts 3,140 1,377 4,126 

Bonuses and discounts -171 -160 -2,571 

Technical result for non-life insurance operations after bonuses and discounts 2,968 1,217 1,555 

Total investment income -8,343 8,797 19,306 

Investment income transferred to insurance operations -165 -379 -963

Other non-technical revenue/expenses -309 15 -164

Operating profit for the period -5,848 9,650 19,734 

Balance sheet for Länsförsäkringar Alliance non-life insurance 
SEK M 30 Jun 2022 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2021 

ASSETS 
Shares and participations 71,715 68,276 77,818 

Bonds and other interest-bearing securities 33,999 34,817 35,635 

Other investment assets 39,299 36,768 38,620 

Total investment assets 145,013 139,861 152,073 

Reinsurers' portion of technical provisions 10,887 18,702 10,631 

Receivables and other assets 15,612 18,358 15,781 

Cash and bank balances 11,369 6,176 7,349 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 2,015 1,913 1,875 

TOTAL ASSETS 184,897 185,010 187,709 

EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES 

Equity 97,490 90,887 100,665 

Technical provisions (before ceded reinsurance) 66,618 73,711 65,022 

Other provisions and liabilities 17,671 17,305 18,995 

Accrued expenses and deferred income 3,117 3,107 3,027 

TOTAL EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES 184,897 185,010 187,709 

The Länsförsäkringar Alliance comprises 23 local and customerowned regional insurance companies and the jointly owned Länsförsäkringar AB. 
The Länsförsäkringar Alliance is not a Group in the legal sense of the term. Most of the non-life insurance business in the Alliance is underwritten by 
the regional insurance companies. For additional information about the non-life insurance business conducted within Länsförsäkringar Group, see 
note 2 Earnings per segment.  

Earnings from the Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s non-life insurance operations consist of the total earnings of the 23 regional insurance companies 
and the non-life insurance operations of the Länsförsäkringar AB Group. The result for Support and Service is also included. The holdings and 
change in value in the Länsförsäkringar AB share and transactions between the regional insurance companies and the Länsförsäkringar AB Group 
have been eliminated.  
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Länsförsäkringar AB Group 
Key figures 
Key figures for Länsförsäkringar AB Group 

Jan-Jun Jan-Jun Full-year 

SEK M 2022 2021 2021 

Group 

Operating profit 1,298 1,973 3,806 

Net profit for the period 1,129 1,638 3,229 

Return on equity, %1) 8 10 9 

Total assets, SEK billion 693 668 712 

Equity per share, SEK2) 3,111 3,047 3,184 

Solvency capital3) 35,968 35,165 36,709 

Solvency margin, %4) 415 447 442 

Own funds for the group (FRL)5) 58,677 61,898 65,203 

Solvency capital requirement for the group (FRL)5) 38,932 42,141 45,368 

Own funds for the financial conglomerate6) 58,677 61,898 65,203 

Capital requirement for the financial conglomerate6) 38,932 42,141 45,368 

Insurance operation 

Non-life insurance operations 

Premiums earned (after ceded reinsurance) 3,962 3,508 7,339 

Investment income transferred from financial operations 4 2 7 

Claims payments (after ceded reinsurance)7) -2,586 -2,295 -4,927 

Technical result, non-life operations 555 314 629 

Premium income, non-life insurance 

Premium income (before ceded reinsurance) 6,294 5,949 9,510 

Premium income (after ceded reinsurance) 4,701 4,349 7,731 

Life-assurance operations 

Premium income (after ceded reinsurance) 403 382 625 

Fees pertaining to financial agreements 466 463 940 

Investment income, net -684 329 806 

Claims payments (after ceded reinsurance) -168 -176 -381 

Technical result, life-assurance operations 519 508 829 

Operating profit for insurance operations8) 382 813*) 1,647 

Key figures 

Cost ratio9) 24 26 26 

Expense ratio10) 21 19 20 

Claims ratio11) 65 72 71 

Combined ratio 86 91 91 

Management cost ratio, life-assurance operations12) 0.8 0.8 0.9 

Direct yield, %13) -0.3 -0.1 -0.4

Total return, %14) -4.1 4.0 9.3

Financial position 

Investment assets, SEK billion15) 19 19 20 

Unit-linked insurance assets - policyholder bears the risk, SEK billion 186 193 219 

Technical provisions (after ceded reinsurance), SEK billion 11 10 10 
*) Comparative figures for the January-June period have been adjusted to exclude dividends of SEK 1,205 M from subsidiaries. 
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Key figures for Länsförsäkringar AB Group, cont. 
Jan-Jun Jan-Jun Full-year 

SEK M 2022 2021 2021 

Banking operation 

Net interest income*) 2,362 2,428 4,863 

Operating profit 953 1,228 2,296 

Net profit for the period 829 975 1,851 

Return on equity, %16) 7.6 10.7 9.8 

Total assets, SEK billion 466 433 451 

Equity 22,022 20,765 21,749 

Cost/income ratio before loan losses*) 17) 0.50 0.47 0.55 

Investment margin, %*) 18) 1.02 1.15 1.12 

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio, consolidated situation, % 14.9 14.8 15.3 

Tier 1 ratio, consolidated situation, %19) 16.7 16.7 17.2 

Total capital ratio, consolidated situation, %20) 18.9 19.0 19.4 

Credit loss level, %21) 0.02 -0.04 -0.09

Liquidity coverage ratio, consolidated situation, %22) 334 284 313

Net stable funding ratio, consolidated situation, %23) 126 129 130
*) Historical key figures for 2021 have been adjusted since the Resolution fee has been reclassified from Interest expense to Risk tax levied and 
resolution fee. 

1) Operating profit less standard tax at 20.6% (20.6) in relation to
average equity, exclusive of items in equity recognized in other 
comprehensive income and Additional Tier 1 Capital loans. 

2) Equity, exclusive of Additional Tier 1 Capital loan, per share. 

3) Total of shareholders’ equity, exclusive of Additional Tier 1 Capital
loans, subordinated loan and deferred taxes. 

4) Solvency capital as a percentage of full-year premium income after 
ceded reinsurance. 

5) The group under the insurance-operation rules comprises the 
Parent Company Länsförsäkringar AB, all of the insurance companies 
in the Group, Länsförsäkringar Bank AB, Wasa Kredit AB, 
Länsförsäkringar Hypotek AB and Länsförsäkringar Fondförvaltning 
AB. Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB is also included in the group, 
despite the company not being consolidated in the Länsförsäkringar 
AB Group. As stated in the EU Solvency II Directive, the calculations 
are made in accordance with the consolidation method, but with 
Länsförsäkringar Liv included in accordance with the deduction and 
aggregation method as permitted by the Swedish Financial Supervisory 
Authority. 

6) The financial conglomerate comprises the same companies as the 
group according to the insurance-operation rules, see footnote 5. The 
calculations for the financial conglomerate are made using the same 
methods as for the group in accordance with the insurance-operation 
rules. Unlike the group under the insurance-operation rules, the 
transferability of profits for the financial conglomerate is to also be 
tested in other regulated companies than the group’s insurance 
companies. 

7) Excluding claims adjustment costs. 

8) The operating profit for the insurance operations includes 
investment income and other non-technical income and expenses, and
expenses for the Länsförsäkringar AB Group’s non-life insurance 
business and for Länsförsäkringar Fondliv. 

9) Operating expenses and claims adjustment costs as a percentage of
premiums earned after ceded reinsurance. Pertains only to non-life 
insurance. 

10) Operating expenses as a percentage of premiums earned after 
ceded reinsurance. Pertains only to non-life insurance. Excluding 
claims adjustment costs in accordance with the regulation of the 
Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority 

11) Claims payments as a percentage of premiums earned after ceded
reinsurance. Pertains only to non-life insurance. Includes claims 
adjustment costs in accordance with the regulation of the Swedish 
Financial Supervisory Authority. 

12) Operating expenses and claims adjustment costs in relation to the 
average value of investment assets, investment assets for which the 
policyholder bears the investment risk and cash and cash equivalents. 

13) Direct yield refers to the total of interest income, interest 
expenses, dividends on shares and participations and administration 
costs for asset management, in relation to the average value of the 
insurance operations’ investment assets and cash and bank balances
for the period. 

14) Total return is calculated as the sum of direct yields and changes in 
the value of the investment portfolio in relation to the average value of
the investment assets during the period. Pertains to non-life insurance 
and life-assurance. 

15) Investment assets comprise owner-occupied property, shares and
participations in associated companies, shares and participations, 
bonds and other interest-bearing securities, derivatives (assets and 
liabilities), cash and cash equivalents, and interest-bearing liabilities. 

16) Operating profit after standard tax at 20.6% (20.6) in relation to
average equity, adjusted for changes in value of financial assets 
recognised in equity. 

17) Total expenses before loan losses in relation to total income. 

18) Net interest income in relation to average total assets. 

19) Tier 1 capital in relation to the total risk exposure amount. 

20) Total own funds in relation to the total risk exposure amount. 

21) Credit losses (annual basis), net, for loan receivables in relation to
loans to the public and credit institutions after loss allowance. 

22) Qualitative liquid assets (12-month average) in relation to their net 
cash outflow measured over a period of 30 days. 

23) Available stable funding in relation to the assets that require stable
funding over one year.
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Länsförsäkringar AB Group 
Financial statements 
Consolidated income statement for Länsförsäkringar AB Group 

Jan-Jun Jan-Jun Full-year 
SEK M 2022 2021 2021 

Premiums earned (before ceded reinsurance) 5,260 4,765 9,725 

Reinsurers' portion of premiums earned -906 -885 -1,785 

Premiums earned (after ceded reinsurance) 4,354 3,879 7,940 

Interest income 3,059 3,053 6,106 

Interest expense1) -701 -628 -1,249 

Net interest income1) 2,359 2,425 4,858 

Change in unit-linked insurance assets - policyholder bears the risk -38,223 21,146 39,267 

Dividends in unit-linked insurance assets - policyholder bears the risk - - 12 

Investment income, net -959 659 1,607 

Commission income 2,080 1,976 4,136 

Other operating income 1,205 1,094 2,316 

Total operating income1) -29,185 31,180 60,136 

Claims payments (before ceded reinsurance) -3,034 -2,892 -6,989
Reinsurers' portion of claims payments 541 431 1,833
Claims payments (after ceded reinsurance) -2,493 -2,461 -5,156 
Change in life-assurance provision -77 -78 -9
Change in unit-linked insurance liabilities - policyholder bears the risk 38,870 -21,476 -40,084
Commission expense -1,860 -2,059 -4,241
Staff costs -1,482 -1,336 -2,611
Other administration expenses -2,259 -1,814 -4,436
Loan losses -49 80 331
Risk tax levied and resolution fee1) -168 -61 -123
Total expenses1) 30,483 -29,206 -56,329 

Operating profit 1,298 1,973 3,806 

Tax -169 -335 -577 

Net profit for the period 1,129 1,638 3,229 

Earnings per share before and after dilution, SEK 108 157 310 

1) Comparative figures have been adjusted since the Resolution fee has been reclassified from Interest expense to Risk tax levied and resolution fee. 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for Länsförsäkringar AB Group 
Jan-Jun Jan-Jun Full-year 

SEK M 2022 2021 2021 

Net profit for the period 1,129 1,638 3,229 
Other comprehensive income 

Items that have been transferred or can be transferred to profit for the period 

Translation differences attributable to foreign operations 9 20 40 

Cash-flow hedges 270 37 111 

Change in fair value of debt instruments measured at FVOCI -416 -23 90 

Tax attributable to items that have been transferred or can be transferred to 

profit for the period 30 -3 -41

Total -107 31 199 
Items that cannot be transferred to profit for the period 

Change in fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income -11 -9 -7 

Tax attributable to items that cannot be reversed to profit for the period 1 0 0 

Total -9 -9 -7

Total other comprehensive income for the period, net after tax -116 22 192 

Comprehensive income for the period 1,013 1,660 3,421 
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Consolidated statement of financial position for Länsförsäkringar AB Group 

SEK M 
30 Jun 

2022 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2021  SEK M 
30 Jun 

2022 
30 Jun 

2021 
31 Dec 

2021 
ASSETS EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Goodwill 723 627 634  Equity 

Other intangible assets 3,916 4,460 3,862  Share capital 200 200 200 

Deferred tax assets 117 142 82  Other capital contributed 11,115 11,115 11,115 

Property and equipment 606 431 481  Additional Tier 1 instruments 2,200 2,200 2,200 

Owner-occupied property 837 961 907  Reserves -551 -605 -435

Shares in Länsförsäkringar Liv  Retained earnings including profit 

Försäkrings AB 8 8 8  for the period 21,664 21,058 22,307 

Shares and participations in  Total equity 34,628 33,968 35,387 

associated companies 80 82 75 

Reinsurers' portion  Liabilities 

of technical provisions 10,947 10,920 10,701  Subordinated liabilities 2,596 2,594 2,595 

Loans to the public 385,639 352,666 361,991  Technical provisions 21,734 21,106 20,631 

Unit-linked insurance assets -   Unit-linked insurance liabilities -  

policyholder bears the risk 185,538 193,128 219,102  policyholder bears the risk 188,543 196,306 222,791 

Shares and participations  6,349 5,614 6,858  Deferred tax liabilities 1,061 945 1,010 

Bonds and other interest-bearing  Other provisions 135 127 156 

securities 57,123 61,065 59,686  Debt securities in issue 271,309 253,738 266,097 

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 14,820 13,449 15,526  Deposits from the public 154,664 140,835 144,510 

Derivatives 7,930 4,261 4,125  Due to credit institutions 9,933 5,624 7,892 

Change in value of hedge portfolios -4,395 50 735  Derivatives 8,456 833 1,029 

Other receivables 7,054 5,865 6,430  Change in value of hedge portfolios -10,399 748 376 

Prepaid expenses and accrued  Other liabilities 4,409 4,497 4,534 

income 3,894 3,272 3,508  Accrued expenses and deferred 

Cash and cash equivalents 11,743 10,514 16,877  income 5,859 6,193 4,584 

 Total liabilities 658,300 633,546 676,202 

TOTAL ASSETS 692,928 667,514 711,589  TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 692,928 667,514 711,589 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity for Länsförsäkringar AB Group 
Retained  
earnings 

Additional  including net 

Other capital  Tier 1 profit for the 

SEK M Share capital contributed instruments Reserves period Total 
Opening equity, 1 January 2021 1,042 10,272 2,200 -626 20,159 33,048 

Effect of merger1,2) -842 842 - - - - 

Transactions with the Group's owners 

Contributions from and transfers of 

value to owners 

Dividends paid - - - - -698 -698

Total transactions with the Group's 

owners - - - - -698 -698

Comprehensive income for the period - - - 21 1,639 1,660

Dividend paid Additional Tier 1 

instruments - - - - -41 -41

Closing equity, 30 June 20212) 200 11,115 2,200 -605 21,058 33,968 

Opening equity, 1 July 2021 200 11,115 2,200 -605 21,058 33,968 

Transactions with the Group's owners 

Contributions from and transfers of 

value to owners 

Dividends paid - - - - -302 -302

Total transactions with the Group's 

owners - - - - -302 -302 

Comprehensive income for the period - - - 170 1,591 1,761 

Dividend paid Additional Tier 1 

instruments - - - - -41 -41

Closing equity, 31 December 2021 200 11,115 2,200 -435 22,307 35,387 

Opening equity, 1 January 2022 200 11,115 2,200 -435 22,307 35,387 

Realised gain from sale of shares - - - - 19 19 

Transactions with the Group's owners 

Contributions from and transfers of 

value to owners 

Dividends paid - - - - -1,751 -1,751 

Total transactions with the Group's 

owners - - - - -1,751 -1,751 

Comprehensive income for the period - - - -116 1,129 1,013 

Dividend paid Additional Tier 1 

instruments - - - - -40 -40

Closing equity, 30 June 2022 200 11,115 2,200 -551 21,664 34,628 

1) Refers to changes in the Group's equity due to the merger. 
2) Comparative figures have been adjusted since other capital contributed shows what shareholders have contributed, while retained earnings shows 
what the Group has earned. 



Länsförsäkringar Alliance 
Interim review January-June 2022   25 

Consolidated statement of cash flows for Länsförsäkringar AB Group 
Jan-Jun Jan-Jun 

SEK M 2022 2021 

Operating activities 
Operating profit 1,298 1,973 

Adjustment for non-cash items 5,686 6,365 

Tax paid -326 -331

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 6,658 8,008 

Cash flow from changes in working capital 

Change in shares and participations, bonds and other interest-bearing securities and derivatives -3,963 -12,345

Increase (-)/Decrease (+) in operating receivables -25,640 -8,772 

Change in debt securities in issue 5,569 19,177 

Increase (-)/Decrease (+) in operating liabilities 14,609 3,406 

Cash flow from operating activities  -2,767 9,475 

Investing activities 

Change in shares and participations in associated companies - -6

Investment in intangible assets -322 -300

Investment in property and equipment -116 -20

Cash flow from investing activities -437 -326 

Financing activities 

Change in lease liabilities -144 -135

Additional Tier 1 instruments -40 -41

Dividends paid -1,751 -698

Cash flow from financing activities -1,935 -874 

Net cash flow for the period -5,139 8,279 

Cash and cash equivalents, 1 January 16,877 2,221 

Exchange-rate differences in cash and cash equivalents 5 14 

Cash and cash equivalents, 30 June 11,743 10,514 
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Länsförsäkringar AB Group 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
All figures in SEK M unless otherwise stated.

Company information 
This interim report and consolidated financial statements for 
Länsförsäkringar AB (publ), Corporate Registration Number 502010-
9681, refers to the 1 January – 30 June 2022 period. The interim report 
for Länsförsäkringar AB is included in pages 14-16 and 19-38. The 
company is an insurance company registered in Sweden, with its 
registered office in Stockholm. The address of the head office is 
Tegeluddsvägen 11–13, SE-106 50 Stockholm. The company is wholly 
owned by the 23 regional insurance companies and 14 local insurance 
companies. 

Compliance with standards and legislation 
The interim report has been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 
Interim Financial Reporting. The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared according to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) issued by International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) and the interpretations of these standards issued by 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 
as adopted by the EU. In addition, the Swedish Annual Accounts Act 
for Insurance Companies (1995:1560) and the Swedish Financial 
Supervisory Authority’s regulation and general guideline FFFS 2019:23, 
regarding annual accounts at insurance undertakings and institutions 
for occupational retirement provision, and its amendments were 
applied. Furthermore, the Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s 
recommendation RFR 1 Supplementary Accounting Rules for Groups 
were applied as were the Board’s statements.  

Changes that impacted the financial statements in 2022 
No accounting standards came into effect during the period that have 
a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

Judgements and estimates 
In February 2022, the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority 
requested a statement from Wasa Kredit regarding the investigation of 
credit assessments for consumer credits that took place in the first 
half of 2020. In 2021, Wasa Kredit implemented measures related to 
the observations as notified by the Authority. It is not currently 
possible to reliably estimate the amount of any potential penalties 
since the investigation has not yet been completed and the outcome is 
unknown.  

Accounting policies due to new fees 
The risk tax levied on the Bank Group is recognised in income 
successively over the fiscal year and is recognised in profit or loss on a 
new line: Fees levied. Resolution fees that were recognised in net 
interest income in prior periods have been reclassified to the new 
income statement line “Fees levied.” Comparative figures for prior 
periods have been restated. 

In all other respects, the interim report has been prepared in 
accordance with the same accounting policies and calculation 
methods applied in the 2021 Annual Reports.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and FSA’s accounting regulations – 
legally restricted IFRS in consolidated financial statements 
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts replaces IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts, 
and comes into effect on 1 January 2023. The standard, which was 
endorsed by the EU in November 2021, provides a principle-based set 
of rules for recognising insurance contracts and imposes expanded 
disclosure requirements to increase comparability between different 
companies. 

On 15 March 2022, the FSA decided on FFFS 2022:7 Regulations 
amending Finansinspektionen’s regulations and general guidelines 
(FFFS 2019:23) regarding annual accounts at insurance undertakings 
and institutions for occupational retirement provision. One of the 
amendments is that IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts should not be applied 
to legal entities, and thus not in consolidated financial statements 
under legally restricted IFRS.  

The FSA has previously announced amendments to FFFS 2019:23 
Regulations and general guidelines regarding annual accounts at 
insurance undertakings and institutions for occupational retirement 
provision, under which the requirement of applying full IFRS in 
consolidated financial statements for unlisted insurance companies 
was removed. This means that unlisted insurance companies are able 
to apply legally restricted IFRS in consolidated financial statements 
that are essentially equivalent to those applied in legal entities.  

Länsförsäkringar AB intends to apply legally restricted IFRS in its 
consolidated financial statements from 1 January 2023. This entails 
that IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts will not have any impact on the 
company’s financial statements. The transition to legally restricted 
IFRS in consolidated financial statements entails that consolidated 
goodwill is amortised over five years and yield tax is classified as 
“Change in provision for which the policyholder bears the risk,” instead 
of being recognised in “Tax on net profit for the year.” The 
Länsförsäkringar AB Group intends to apply the same reporting of 
leases as in legal entities, which means that lease payments are 
expensed straight line over the term instead of being recognised as 
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. In addition, earnings from sale 
and leaseback transactions will be recognised immediately instead of 
being allocated over the term of the lease. 

The transition to legally restricted IFRS in consolidated financial 
statements will take place with retrospective application and transition 
effects will be recognised directly in opening equity for the 
comparative year, 1 January 2022. The overall effects are expected to 
have limited impact on the Group’s equity. 

Events after the end of the reporting period 
On 9 July, Länsförsäkringar Bank received a request for a statement 
from the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority related to the 
investigation into how the bank complies with the regulations on 
monitoring and reporting, with a focus on fast transactions and 
international payments. The investigation started in June 2021 and the 
outcome of the FSA’s review of this case remains unknown. 

 Note 1   Accounting policies 
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Note 2 Earnings per segment 

Eliminations  

Non- Unit- Support and 
life  linked   and  adjust- 

Jan-Jun 2022, SEK M insurance Agria insurance Bank Service ments Total 
Premiums earned (after ceded  

reinsurance) 1,450 2,679 158 - - 67 4,354 

Net interest income - - - 2,362 - -3 2,359 

Change in unit-linked insurance assets - 

policyholder bears the risk - - -38,223 - - - -38,223 

Investment income, net 4 - -657 -19 -342 54 -959

Commission income 17 - 1,096 957 - 10 2,080

Other operating income 101 36 37 2 1,305 -276 1,205

Total operating income 1,572 2,716 -37,589 3,302 963 -149 -29,185 

Claims payments (after ceded  
reinsurance) -890 -1,778 -86 - - 261 -2,493

Change in life-assurance provision - - - - - -77 -77

Change in unit-linked insurance 

liabilities - policyholder bears the risk - - 38,870 - - - 38,870 

Commission expense -132 -80 -693 -957 - 2 -1,860

Staff costs -292 -217 -107 -398 -473 5 -1,482

Other administration expenses 22 -313 -121 -777 -1,004 -65 -2,259

Loan losses - - - -49 - - -49

Risk tax levied and resolution fee - - - -168 - - -168

Total expenses -1,292 -2,387 37,863 -2,349 -1,477 125 30,483 

Technical result 280 330 274 - - -885 - 

Non technical recognition 12 -165 -1 - - 155 - 

Operating profit 292 165 273 953 -514 130 1,298 

Tax - - - - - -169 -169

Net profit for the period 292 165 273 953 -514 -39 1,129 

Income distribution 

External income 1,537 2,713 -37,919 3,642 306 536 -29,185

Internal income 35 2 330 -340 658 -685 - 

Total operating income 1,572 2,716 -37,589 3,302 963 -149 -29,185 
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Premium income per geographic market, operating segment Agria 

Jan-Jun Jan-Jun 

SEK M 2022 2021 

Sweden 1,541 1,491 

Other Europe 1,221 1,001 

Total 2,762 2,493 

The distribution into operating segments matches how the Group is 
organized and is monitored by Group Management. The technical result 
is presented for Non-life insurance, Agria and Unit-linked insurance 
since the result is followed up by Group Management. Income is 
primarily attributable to Sweden, and the remaining part comes from 
Denmark, Finland, France, Norway, the UK and Germany. 

The Non-life insurance segment pertains to non-life and group life-
assurance; group life-assurance comprises a minor portion only. The 
Länsförsäkringar Alliance’s internal and external reinsurance is also 
included. 

Operating segment Agria refers to insurance cover for pets as well as 
crop insurance for agricultural customers.   

The Unit-linked insurance segment pertains to life-assurance with 
links to mutual funds. 

The Bank segment pertains to deposits and lending operations. The 
legal structure of Länsförsäkringar Bank Group matches the product 
offering to customers. 

Operating segment Support and Service pertains to service, IT and 
development for the Länsförsäkringar Alliance and costs for joint 
functions. 

Depreciation/amortisation and impairment: Depreciation of property 
and equipment and amortisation of intangible assets is included in 
Other administration expenses in Non-life insurance. Amortisation 
pertaining to acquired intangible assets under Unit-linked insurance is 
included in eliminations and adjustments of administration expenses. 

Investment income, net: Investment income that is transferred from 
financial operations to insurance operations is recognised in non-life 
insurance. 

Continued on next page 
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Note 2 Earnings per segment, cont. 

Eliminations  

Non- Unit-  Support and 

life linked  and adjust-  
Jan-Jun 2021, SEK M insurance Agria insurance Bank Service ments Total 
Premiums earned (after ceded  

reinsurance) 1,365 2,302 145 - - 67 3,879 

Net interest income - - - 2,4281) - -3 2,4251) 

Change in unit-linked insurance assets - 

policyholder bears the risk - - 21,146 - - - 21,146 

Investment income, net 2 - 319 27 -2) 3122) 659 

Commission income 21 - 1,064 887 - 3 1,976 

Other operating income 368 2 50 13 1,177 -516 1,094 

Total operating income 1,756 2,305 22,724 3,3541) 1,1772) -1362) 31,1801) 

Claims payments (after ceded  
reinsurance) -955 -1,675 -71 - - 240 -2,461

Change in life-assurance provision - - - - - -78 -78 

Change in unit-linked insurance  

liabilities - policyholder bears the risk - - -21,476 - - - -21,476 

Commission expense -139 -78 -790 -1,059 - 8 -2,059

Staff costs -277 -177 -115 -369 -403 5 -1,336

Other administration expenses -245 -186 70 -716 -870 133 -1,814

Loan losses - - - 80 - - 80

Risk tax levied and resolution fee - - - -611) - - -611)

Total expenses -1,616 -2,116 -22,383 -2,1261) -1,272 308 -29,2061) 

Technical result 140 188 341 - - -669 0 

Non technical recognition 91 66 -3 - - -154 0 

Operating profit 231 254 338 1,228 -962) 192) 1,973 

Tax - - - - - -335 -335

Net profit for the period 231 254 338 1,228 -96 -317 1,638 

Income distribution 

External income 1,738 2,309 22,410 3,6731) 904 144 31,1801) 

Internal income 18 -4 315 -319 2732) -2802) - 

Total operating income 1,756 2,305 22,724 3,3541) 1,1772) -1362) 31,1801) 

1) Comparative figures have been adjusted since the Resolution fee has been reclassified from Interest expense to Risk tax levied and resolution fee. 
2) Comparative figures have been adjusted. 

During the period, normal business transactions took place 
between related parties.

 Note 3   Related-party transactions 
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Note 4 Fair value valuation techniques 

30 Jun 2022 31 Dec 2021 

Table 1 - SEK M Book value Fair value Book value Fair value 

Assets 
Shares in Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB 8 8 8 8 

Loans to the public 385,639 380,892 361,991 362,274 

Unit-linked insurance assets - policyholder bears the risk 185,538 185,538 219,102 219,102 

Shares and participations 6,349 6,349 6,858 6,858 

Bonds and other interest-bearing securities 57,123 57,123 59,686 59,686 

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 14,820 14,820 15,526 15,526 

Derivatives 7,930 7,930 4,125 4,125 

Other receivables 1,711 - 2,266 - 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 385 - 430 - 

Cash and cash equivalents 11,743 - 16,877 - 

Total assets 671,246 686,869 

Liabilities  
Subordinated liabilities 2,596 2,439 2,595 2,593 

Debt securities in issue 271,309 261,380 266,097 268,158 

Deposits from the public 154,664 151,050 144,510 147,224 

Due to credit institutions 9,933 - 7,892 - 

Derivatives 8,456 8,456 1,029 1,029 

Other liabilities 2,019 - 2,235 - 

Accrued expenses and deferred income 2,321 - 1,217 - 

Total liabilities 451,298 425,575 

The fair value of other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, due to credit institutions and other liabilities comprises a reasonable 
approximation based on the cost of the assets and liabilities since these assets and liabilities have short terms. 
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Note 4 Fair value valuation techniques, cont. 
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are presented in the table 
based on the valuation techniques applied: 
Level 1 refers to prices determined from prices listed in an active market. 
Level 2 refers to prices determined by calculated prices of observable market listings. 
Level 3 refers to prices based on own assumptions and judgements. 

Table 2 - Fair value valuation techniques, SEK M 

30 Jun 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Total 

Assets 
Shares in Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB - - 8 8 

Unit-linked insurance assets - policyholder bears the risk 185,538 - - 185,538 

Shares and participations 3,076 21 3,253 6,349 

Bonds and other interest-bearing securities 55,942 - 1,181 57,123 

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 7,348 7,472 - 14,820

Derivatives 1 7,929 - 7,930

Liabilities 
Derivatives 1 8,455 - 8,456

31 Dec 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Assets 
Shares in Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB - - 8 8 

Unit-linked insurance assets - policyholder bears the risk 219,102 - - 219,102 

Shares and participations 3,982 21 2,855 6,858 

Bonds and other interest-bearing securities 58,704 - 982 59,686 

Treasury bills and other eligible bills 8,645 6,881 - 15,526 

Derivatives - 4,125 - 4,125

Liabilities 
Derivatives - 1,029 - 1,029

SEK 7.5 billion was transferred from Level 1 to Level 2 in the second quarter. The transfer pertained to commercial paper. This 
transfer took place due to a reinterpretation whereby the measurement was determined using calculated prices of observable market 
data. Comparative figures have been adjusted and the transfer amounts to SEK 6.9 billion. Due to a reinterpretation, holdings of 
shares and participations with conversion rights for listed Series A shares in Level 2 were transferred to Level 3 in the first quarter of 
2021.  
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Note 4 Fair value valuation techniques, cont. 

Shares in Bonds and 
Länsförsäk- other interest-  

 ringar Liv Shares and bearing 
Table 3 - Change level 3 - SEK M Försäkrings 

AB
participations securities Total 

Opening balance, 1 Jan 2021 8 2,054 610 2,672 

Transferred from level 2 to level 3 - 34 - 34 

Acquisition - 152 397 550 

Divestments and reclassifications - -2 -48 -50 

Recognised in net profit for the period - 616 23 639

Recognised in other comprehensive income - 0 - 0 

Closing balance, 31 Dec 2021 8 2855 982 3845 

Opening balance, 1 Jan 2022 8 2,855 982 3,845 

Acquisition - 140 209 349 

Divestments and reclassifications - -10 -24 -33

Recognised in net profit for the year - 267 13 280

Recognised in other comprehensive income - 0 - 0 

Closing balance, 30 Jun 2022 8 3,253 1,181 4,441 

On 9 July, Länsförsäkringar Bank received a request for a 
statement from the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority 
related to the investigation into how the bank complies with 
the regulations on monitoring and reporting, with a focus on 
fast transactions and 

international payments. It is not currently possible to reliably 
estimate the amount of any potential penalties since the 
investigation has not yet been completed and the outcome is 
unknown.

 Note 5   Significant events after the end of the reporting period 
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Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company 
Key figures 
Key figures for Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company 

Jan-Jun Jan-Jun Full-year 

SEK M 2022 2021 2021 

Premium income (after ceded reinsurance) 1,909 1,857 2,498 

Technical provisions (after ceded reinsurance) 4,589 4,498 4,006 

Solvency capital1) 43,128 42,242 44,361 

Solvency margin, %2) 1,692 1,714 1,776 

Own funds3) 20,408 24,413 24,381 

Minimum capital requirement3) 2 571  3,136 3,375 

Solvency capital requirement3) 8,998 12,543 13,499 

Claims ratio 63 70 72 

Expense ratio 19 20 20 

Combined ratio 82 90 92 

Direct yield, %4) 0.2 0.1 0.2 

Total return, %5) -0.7 3.4 8.5 

1) Equity, untaxed reserves (including deferred tax) and unrecognised surplus values in investment assets.
2) Solvency capital as a percentage of full-year premium income after ceded reinsurance. 
3) The calculations are made in accordance with EU Solvency II directive. 
4) Direct yield refers to the total of operating net from properties, interest income, interest expense, other financial expenses, dividends on shares and
participations (excluding dividends on participations in insurance subsidiaries) in relation to the average value of the investment assets during the 
year, including surplus values of properties in Group companies. 
5) Total return ratio refers to the sum of the direct yield and changes in the value of the investment portfolio for the assets encompassed by the 
investment principles, including direct transaction costs, in relation to the average value of these assets during the year. The change in value in assets
for liability hedges is included in the figure, but the change in value of the discounted technical provisions is not included in the total return. 
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Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company 

Financial statements 
Income statement for Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company 
SEK M Jan-Jun Jan-Jun Full-year 
Technical recognition of non-life insurance operations 2022 2021 2021 

Premiums earned (after ceded reinsurance) 1,282 1,206 2,447 

Investment income transferred from financial operations 4 2 3 

Claims payments (after ceded reinsurance) -809 -849 -1,769

Operating expenses -249 -240 -474 

Other technical expenses 0 -1 -1

Technical result for non-life insurance operations 230 117 206 

Non-technical recognition 

Technical result for non-life insurance operations 230 117 206 

Investment income, revenue 1,212 1,248 1,526 

Unrealised gains on investment assets - 114 241 

Investment income, expenses -82 -33 -111 

Unrealised losses on investment assets -331 0 0 

Investment income transferred to non-life insurance operations -14 -5 -12

Other non-technical income 1,781 1,585 3,290 

Other non-technical expenses -1,937 -1,720 -3,657

Profit before appropriations and tax 859 1,306 1,484 

Appropriations 

Tax allocation reserve - 0 -20

Profit before tax 859 1,306 1,464 

Tax on net profit for the year 0 -22 -18

Net profit for the period 859 1,284 1,446 

Statement of other comprehensive income Jan-Jun Jan-Jun Full-year 

SEK M 2022 2021 2021 

Net profit for the period 859 1,284 1,446 

Other comprehensive income 

Items that cannot be transferred to profit and loss 

Change in fair value of equity instruments measured at FVOCI -7 1 2 

Tax attributable to items that cannot be reversed to profit or loss 1 0 0 

Total comprehensive income for the period 853 1,285 1,448 
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Balance sheet for Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company 
SEK M 30 Jun 2022 30 Jun 2021 31 Dec 2021 

ASSETS 

Intangible assets 398 510 346 

Investment assets 21,008 22,712 22,257 

Reinsurers' portion of technical provisions 10,855 10,842 10,618 

Receivables 2,408 1,969 1,638 

Cash and bank balances 2,465 1,689 2,400 

Other assets 194 53 92 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 540 492 381 

TOTAL ASSETS 37,869 38,267 37,733 

EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES 

Equity 18,181 19,198 19,059 

Untaxed reserves 1,174 1,154 1,174 

Technical provisions (before ceded reinsurance) 15,444 15,340 14,624 

Other provisions 78 79 81 

Derivatives 33 12 20 

Deposits from reinsurers 4 9 9 

Liabilities 2,251 1,786 1,918 

Accrued expenses and deferred income 705 689 848 

TOTAL EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES 37,869 38,267 37,733 
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Statement of changes in equity for Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company 

Restricted equity Non-restricted equity 
Develop-       

  ment Net profit 
Share Expendi- Staturory  Fair value Retained for the Total 

SEK M capital tures Fund Reserve reserve earnings period equity 
Opening equity, 1 January 2021 200 - 4 36 145 162 547 

Appropriation of profit - - - - 162 -162 - 

Merger difference1,2) - - - - 18,065 - 18,065

Dividends paid before merger 

date - - - - -698 - -698

Transfer to Development 

Expenditures Fund on  

merger - 345 - - -345 - - 

Transfer to fair value reserve on 

merger - - - -506 506 - - 

Net profit for the period - - - - - 1,284 1,284 

Other comprehensive income for the 

period - - - 1 - - 1 

Change in reserve - - - 0 0 - 0 

Capitalised internally generated 

development expenditures - 63 - - -63 - - 

Closing equity, 30 June 2021 200 408 4  -470 17,772 1,284 19,198 

Opening equity, 1 July 2021 200 408 4  -470 17,772 1,284 19,198 

Appropriation of profit - - - - -302 - -302 

Net profit for the period - - - - - 162 162 

Other comprehensive income for the 
period - - - 1 - - 1 
Change in reserve - - - 0 0 - 0 

Capitalised internally generated 

development expenditures - -153 - - 153 - 0 

Closing equity, 31 December 2021 200 255 4  -469 17,623 1,446 19,059 

Opening equity, 1 January 2022 200 255 4 -469 17,623 1,446 19,059 

Appropriation of profit - - - - 1,446 -1,446 - 

Dividends paid - - - -1,751 - -1,751 

Net profit for the period - - - - - 859 859 

Other comprehensive income for the 

period - - -  -6 - - -6 

Realised gain from sale of shares - - -  - 19 - 19 

Capitalised internally generated  

development expenditures - 58 -  - -58 - - 

Closing equity, 30 June 2021 200 313 4  -475 17,279 859 18,181 

1) The merger difference was impacted by dividends decided at Gamla Länsförsäkringar AB's Annual General Meeting held on 19 April 2021.
2) Gamla Länsförsäkringar AB's (publ) earnings for 1 Jan-2 May 2021 are included in comprehensive income for the period. The difference between the 
transferring company´s value of assets and liabilities at the beginning of the merger year is recognised, less approved dividends, as the merger 
difference in equity. The merger difference has been recognised as restricted equity as far as permitted in BFNAR 2020:5. The remainder was 
recognised as non-restricted equity. 
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Länsförsäkringar AB, Parent Company 

Notes to the financial statements 
Amounts are in SEK M, unless otherwise stated

Company information 
The interim report for Länsförsäkringar AB (publ), Corporate 
Registration Number 502010-9681, refers to the 1 January–30 June 
2021 period. The company is an insurance company registered in 
Sweden, with its registered office in Stockholm. The address of the 
head office is Tegeluddsvägen 11–13, SE-106 50 Stockholm, Sweden. 
The company is wholly owned by the 23 regional insurance companies 
and 14 local insurance companies. 

Compliance with standards and legislation 
The Parent Company prepares its accounts in accordance with the 
Swedish Annual Accounts Act for Insurance Companies (1995:1560) 
(ÅRFL). The company also applies the Swedish Financial Supervisory 
Authority’s regulations and general guidelines regarding annual 
reports in insurance companies (FFFS 2019:23) and its amendments, 
and the Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s recommendation RFR 2 
Accounting for Legal Entities. In accordance with the regulations and 
general guidelines, Länsförsäkringar AB applies legally restricted IFRS. 
This means that all IFRS and interpretations approved by the EU are 
applied as far as possible within the framework of Swedish legislation, 
taking into consideration the connection between accounting and 
taxation. 

In all other respects, the interim report for the Parent Company has 
been prepared in accordance with the same accounting policies and 
calculation methods applied in Länsförsäkringar AB’s 2021 Annual 
Report. 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and FSA’s accounting regulations – 
legally restricted IFRS in consolidated financial statements 
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts replaces IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts, 
and comes into effect on 1 January 2023. The standard, which was 
endorsed by the EU in November 2021, provides a principle-based set 
of rules for recognising insurance contracts and imposes expanded 
disclosure requirements to increase comparability between different 
companies. 

On 15 March 2022, the FSA decided on FFFS 2022:7 Regulations 
amending Finansinspektionen’s regulations and general guidelines 
(FFFS 2019:23) regarding annual accounts at insurance undertakings 
and institutions for occupational retirement provision. One of the 
amendments is that IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts should not be applied 
to legal entities, The company’s assessment is that the decided 
amendments will not entail any material impact on the company’s 
financial statements. 

Accounting changes due to reclassifications 
Bank balances, that were previously recognised under Receivables 
were reclassified to cash and bank balances. Comparative figures 
relating to 30 June 2021 and 31 December 2021 were restated in the 
amounts of SEK 1 106 M and SEK 1 562 M, respectively. 

 Note 1   Accounting policies 
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During the quarter, standard business transactions took place with 
companies with which a related-party relationship exists without any 
changes to agreements or relationships since the 2021 Annual Report. 

Related-party transactions 
2022 Income Expenses Receivables Liabilities 
Group companies 1,808 12 1,565 892 

Associated  

companies 0 13 3 0 
Länsförsäkringar Liv 78 33 6 2 
Regional insurance  
companies 2,051 977 9,719 8,295 
Other related parties 16 85 40 0 

2021 Income Expenses Receivables Liabilities 
Group companies 1,252 15 1,561 317 
Associated  
companies 2 6 4 0 
Länsförsäkringar Liv 13 35 20 2 
Regional insurance 
companies 1,221 45 8,784 9,031 
Other related parties 2 84 40 0 

Bank balances from Länsförsäkringar Bank AB amounts to: 
2022 2021 

Cash and cash equivalents with  
Länsförsäkringar Bank AB 930 1,562 

The President and CEO submitted the report for Länsförsäkringar AB Group 
(pages 14-16, 19-38) on behalf of the Board of Directors. 

This report is unaudited. 

Stockholm 31 August 2022 

Malin Rylander Leijon 
President and CEO 

 Note 2   Related-party transactions 
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Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB 
Financial statements 

Income statement for Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB 
Jan-Jun Jan-Jun Full-year 

SEK M 2022 2021 2021 

Premium income after ceded reinsurance 518 607 1,122 

Investment income net -10,186 4,722 10,942 

Other technical revenues 46 52 104 

Claims payments -2,369 -2,549 -5,235 
Change in technical provisions 10,002 2,571 5,246 
Bonuses and discounts 0 -2 -3
Operating expenses -166 -171 -370

Other technical expenses -38 -35 -79 

Technical result, life insurance operations -2,193 5,195 11,727 

Non-technical revenues and expenses - - - 

Profit before tax allocation reserve and tax -2,193 5,195 11,727 

Tax allocation reserve 0 - 53 

Taxes -44 -47 -89

Net profit for the period -2,237 5,148 11,691 

Other comprehensive income for the period - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the period -2,237 5,148 11,691 

Balance sheet for Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkrings AB 
SEK M 30 Jun 2022 31 Dec 2021 

ASSETS 
Intangible assets 8 9 

Reinsurers' portion of technical provisions 101,143 115,033 

Receivables 1,474 374 

Other assets 3,747 3,347 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 1 0 

TOTAL ASSETS 106,373 118,763 

EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES 

Equity 36,513 39,304 

Untaxed reserves 193 192 

Technical provisions 67,570 77,739 

Provisions for other risks and expenses 34 33 

Liabilities 1,856 1,295 

Accrued expenses and deferred income 207 200 

TOTAL EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES 106,373 118,763 

For information about Länsförsäkringar Liv's key figures, see separate "Nyckeltalsrapport" available at 
https://www.lansforsakringar.se/om-oss/finansiellt/gemensamma-bolag/lansforsakringar-liv/ 



Financial calendar 2022

Interim Report January-September Länsförsäkringar Bank 27 October
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For further information, please contact

Malin Rylander Leijon, President and CEO Länsförsäkringar AB
Malin.Rylander-Leijon@lansforsakringar.se, +46 (0)8-588 408 64, +46 (0)73-964 08 64 

Anna Glennmar, Investor Relations Länsförsäkringar AB
Anna.Glennmar@lansforsakringar.se, +46 (0)8-588 417 42, +46 (0)72-141 44 08

Lena Hedlund, Head of Communications Länsförsäkringar AB
Lena.Hedlund@lansforsakringar.se, +46 (0)8-588 403 55, +46 (0)76-496 45 57

Länsförsäkringar AB (publ),
Corporate Registration Number 502010-9681
Street address: Tegeluddsvägen 11-13
Postal address: SE-106 50 Stockholm
Telephone: +46 (0)8-588 400 00

The information was submitted for publication on 1 September 2022 at 13:00 Swedish time.
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